
Harbor Commission

Regular Meeting Agenda

Tuesday, March 18, 2014, 5:30 p.m. 
North Side Marina, 148 Black River Street

                                  City of South Haven

1. Call to Order

Roll Call: Chairman Jeff Arnold,  Vice-Chairman Mary Stephens, Cathy Pyle, Tim Reineck, Alan 
Silverman, Daniel Strong, Greg Sullivan.

2.  Approval of Agenda 

3.  Approval of Minutes:  February 18, 2014 Regular Meeting

4.  Interested Citizens in the Audience Will be Heard on Items Not on the Agenda

5.  Marina Reports

6.  Maritime Museum Dock Requests

7.  Strategic Plan and Priority Setting Review

8.  Black River Park Grant Application

9.  Weather Buoy

10. Commercial Use Policy

11. Wilhelm Baum

Member and Staff Comments

Adjourn

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED,
Paul VandenBosch
Secretary, Harbor Commission

1



     Page 1 
     February 18, 2014 
      Harbor Commission Minutes  
      DRAFT 

Harbor Commission 
 

 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
 
Tuesday, February 18, 2014, 5:30 p.m.  
North Side Marina, 148 Black River Street 
 

                                        City of South Haven 

 

 
 

1. Call to Order by Arnold at 5:30 p.m. 
 

Roll Call:  
 
Present:  Stephens, Pyle, Sullivan, Arnold 
Absent:   Reineck, Silverman, Strong 
 

2.  Approval of Agenda  
 

Motion by Stephens, second by Sullivan to approve the agenda as presented. 
 
All in favor. Motion carried. 

 
3.  Approval of Minutes:  January 21, 2014 Regular Meeting 
 
 Motion by Pyle, second by Stephens to approve the January 21, 2014 regular meeting minutes as 

written. 
 
 All in favor. Motion carried. 
 
4.  Interested Citizens in the Audience Will be Heard on Items Not on the Agenda 
 
     None at this time. 
 

VandenBosch pointed out the new brochures advertising the harbor which were handed out at the 
Strictly Sail boat show in Chicago and will be distributed this weekend at the boat show in Grand 
Rapids. 
 
VandenBosch introduced information regarding the design of a Wi-Fi system for the marinas and the 
downtown. The system will have a variety of different Service Set Identifiers (SSIDs). There will be 
one for city employees including the police department; data ones which can be connected to 
video/security cameras; and the city may also make bandwidth available for sale. The Marina will 
have an SSID which is available anywhere including downtown and at the beaches for boaters. One 

2



     Page 2 
     February 18, 2014 
      Harbor Commission Minutes  
      DRAFT 

of the city’s marketing efforts is advertising Wi-Fi at the beach. While the marinas currently have Wi-
Fi, there have been reception difficulties in some spots, so the city is upgrading the system so the 
entire marina will have very good Wi-Fi reception level and bandwidth.  
 
VandenBosch reviewed the plan for funding the Wi-Fi system through the electric fund, which is a 
utility, which will charge the marinas each year for five years to pay it off. The marina fund balance is 
at a low point due to funding the Northside Marina facility and doing the dredging. While the city is 
aiming for Memorial Day for the Wi-Fi to be operable there is hope that it may be done by the end of 
April. VandenBosch enumerated the approvals that must be obtained before the project can begin.  
 
Sullivan asked whether there is any talk of expanding the Wi-Fi availability over the entire city. 
VandenBosch said since cell phones are limited, to expand it the city would have to put a transmitter 
every three hundred (300) feet. There have been conversations with a condominium and a 
campground who are interested in having Wi-Fi as a utility. Discussion ensued regarding the sale of 
Wi-Fi to both individuals and groups. 

 
5.  Marina Reports 
 

VandenBosch reviewed the Marina Reports. 
 
VandenBosch pointed out that this is a good year for seasonal dock rentals; 2014 has already 
exceeded several previous years’ totals. Noted that the uptick is mainly related to our invoicing 
system; while the invoices were previously sent out from the marinas a few at a time, invoicing is 
now being sent out by the city all at once. After a question from Sullivan VandenBosch stated the 
marinas have waiting lists for forty foot (40’) docks, while there are still fifty foot (50’) and sixty foot 
(60’) ones open.  
 
VandenBosch pointed out that Black River Park is already bringing in revenue.  
 
Stephens asked if the Wi-Fi costs will be coming out of the Marina fund to which VandenBosch 
responded, “Yes, but this first year we have no payment and then the next five (5) years the utility 
will bill the marinas.”   
 
VandenBosch noted that the city has had difficulty finding a location for piling snow; presently snow 
is being put in Black River Park parking lot.  
 
VandenBosch noted staff is currently working on the new budget; a budget amendment will be 
needed to complete the dredging and some final bills on the North Marina facility that came in after 
June 30, 2013. Most balances will be very low after those expenses are paid.  
 
VandenBosch noted that another item that will affect the Marina Fund is that depreciation is taken 
out of the balance as an expense. While that money does not actually leave the account, it cannot 
be used during that year. VandenBosch pointed out that the depreciation can be used the next year 
and there is about $130,000 in that reserve because of the North Marina facility. VandenBosch 
explained it as a single-year savings plan based on accounting rules that cities have to follow.  

 
VandenBosch noted that the North Side Marina facility and the dredging project were completed 
without any debt. 

3



     Page 3 
     February 18, 2014 
      Harbor Commission Minutes  
      DRAFT 

 
6.  Priority Setting 
 

  VandenBosch explained that since there are not a lot of reserve funds, this can be looked at as a 
long-term priority setting exercise.  

 
  After enumerating several projects that could be prioritized, materials were distributed for the use of 
commissioners in prioritizing potential projects.  

 
  The group discussed paddle-craft facilities, water taxis, and the fish cleaning station. It was noted 
that two new campgrounds are coming to the area. The State has purchased the defunct 
Riverwoods development to turn into a State Park and Yogi Bear is going in on 64th Street. 
 
Discussion ensued regarding the need for more winter activities to draw people into the city as well 
as cities that have given up some festivals in exchange for less noise and crowding.  
 
VandenBosch encouraged setting a high priority for the fish cleaning station and updated the 
commissioners that the rock waterfall has been installed in the area near Black River Park.  
 
After reviewing the priority lists, VandenBosch noted that for most of these projects the city would 
want to try to get a grant. The Dunkley Street parking lot could be a shared project with the 
Downtown Development Authority (DDA), providing some overflow parking within walking distance of 
the downtown.  
 
Pyle suggested advertising Black River Park seasonal passes in newspapers via press release; 
VandenBosch noted that we also have discounts for those sixty-five and older.  
 
Under “River Maintenance”, commissioners discussed dredging sediment traps, which would be 
permitted under the city’s current dredge permit; finding a place to put dredge spoils and rebuilding 
the Dredging Capital Fund, which is a saving for major dredging.   
 
Maritime Museum dock repair is the number one (1) priority under Marina upgrades, VandenBosch 
noted.   
 
In Black River Park the fish cleaning station is priority number two (2) while the top priority is a new 
Black River Park Marina restroom. During discussion VandenBosch said none of these priorities are 
binding but can be a learning experience. Pyle pointed out there is a restroom with the proposed fish 
cleaning station.  
 
VandenBosch will put the priority results together as a report and bring it back to the next meeting. 
Since attendance at tonight’s meeting is low, VandenBosch suggested reviewing the Strategic Plan 
at the next meeting.  
 
Stephens commented on the Strategic Plan and asked whether we have a fire boat on here, which 
sparked a fairly lengthy discussion regarding the current fire boat; its capabilities, uses and storage 
needs along with acquiring a fire boat large enough to go out on the big lake and to use in the 
harbor. This discussion led to a suggestion by VandenBosch to speak with Fire Chief Wise to get his 

4



     Page 4 
     February 18, 2014 
      Harbor Commission Minutes  
      DRAFT 

opinion. Stephens questioned which exposed the city to greater liability, having or not having a fire 
boat in the harbor.  

 
7.  Marina Independent Accountant's Report 
 

VandenBosch explained the he had requested the audit as an annual audit. When the auditors tried 
to get information about how many boats of what length were in which slips and what the daily 
receipts had been, it was discovered that the State Reservation System data did not include boat 
length, which was needed by the auditors to determine revenue for each day.   
 
There were a number of discrepancies found in the report that was provided, mainly related to 
deposit, reporting and receipting procedures. In the end, it turned out that the auditors identified a 
number of problems. VandenBosch stated that there were communication problems, and that the 
City had not communicated expectations regarding deposits and reporting to the marina manager.  
VandenBosch pointed out that the auditors and finance director never visited the marinas to look at 
the filing system. 
 
In response to the findings of the auditor, VandenBosch went through each finding and identified a 
response to solve the problem.  These responses were added to the Marina Management Policy. 
There were three cases of seasonal boaters who did not pay for their slips; the City has invoiced 
those boaters again and will attempt to recover payment. Some of those payments have 
subsequently been received. There was $13,741 in receivables that the City will attempt to recover. 
VandenBosch explained the various problems, noting that while there are files at the North Side 
Marina that show slip occupancy and payment records,  the auditors want to see a separate 
document as a record to compare to what is in the file; because there was not a separate document, 
this led to the auditors identifying many problems.   
 
Sullivan asked whether the contract specified that the marina manager had to follow certain 
accounting procedures to which VandenBosch responded that marina manager Marple was required 
to follow the city’s expectations as outlined in his contract, but there had not been clear instruction 
and communication regarding accounting and record keeping methods.  Marple started in June of 
2012, and there was not much communication regarding the City's expectations on reporting, 
deposits and receipting until September of 2013.  
 
Sullivan asked for explanation of the references to personal expenditures by the Marina Manager. 
VandenBosch noted that the particular transaction referenced was the Marina Manager’s attempt to 
test the new credit card machine. He ran an expense on his own card and was then reimbursed from 
marina funds. Also, VandenBosch explained, during the winter season there were no staff at the 
marinas, so some transactions were run through the Old Harbor Inn credit card machine, with 
payment being made by check to the City.  This process has been changed so that all seasonal slip 
payments are now invoiced by the City instead of the marina manager. Some deliveries of restroom 
supplies were made to the Old Harbor Inn site. VandenBosch stated that the marina manager had 
told him he was ordering restroom supplies from a lower cost vendor that served Old Harbor Inn, and 
VandenBosch was aware of this change in vendor.  After being informed that delivery to a location 
other than the marinas was inappropriate, the vendor now delivers directly to the marina. 
 
Discussion ensued around the following topics:  
 

5



     Page 5 
     February 18, 2014 
      Harbor Commission Minutes  
      DRAFT 

Using the State reservation system did not result in the type of reports anticipated. VandenBosch 
noted that the state has since changed their system, charging transient boaters by the length of the 
dock, not by the length of the boat, and explained the advantages of the new system to the city 
marinas.  This solves the problem of not being able to get the boat length data out of the State 
Reservation System report, because now the fee is based on the dock length and not the boat 
length. 
 
Transient slip fees were incorrectly recorded in the wrong fiscal year.  This is an accounting issue 
which can easily be fixed. 
 
State sales tax was paid on supply purchases, although the city has an exemption.  VandenBosch 
stated that this was expected when moving to a contracted management service. Due to the auditor 
disliking the way the sales tax was handled, new policies have been put into place; the Marina 
Manager has purchasing card and bills are paid by the city.  
 
Problems noted which were due to not having a refund policy have been corrected.  Now all refunds 
must be authorized by the marina manager and paid by the City.  
 
VandenBosch stated that he has gone through the auditor's findings item by item and made changes 
to the Marina Management Policies. 
 
The marina staff will be doing a daily report on how many boats overnighted in the marina. There are 
now forms to be completed and a payment log to be filled out by the marina.  
 
Discussion ensued regarding how reporting is done from the Marina to the City. VandenBosch noted 
that there is a Daily Sales Record that must be placed in the deposit bag each day. Stephens asked 
whether the City will be keeping records/creating reports in the format required by the auditor. 
VandenBosch stated that he has not discussed with finance regarding exactly how they will be 
keeping the records. 
 
Stephens suggested that there is a need to have the accounting report that was requested by the 
auditors. Sullivan questioned how the state system information will be accessed.  
 
Pyle pointed out, from a marketing standpoint, that if, for example, a boater is here several times 
through the year, and a good marketing practice would be to offer them a seasonal pass. Loyalty 
cards would be another good marketing practice. VandenBosch said we should probably get some 
marina software eventually, and noted that what is being done at this point is in response to the 
audit.  
 
VandenBosch stated that commissioners are welcome to look at the records and noted that there 
definitely were some communication problems. VandenBosch said this was a not a good audit report 
but hopefully we will learn from it and have responded to the problems.  
 
Stephens said the customer service has been done well, Pyle noted that he has turned the harbor 
around. Arnold noted the marinas have a waiting list, finally. Stephens noted the city is taking over 
some of the invoicing, and Marple has a guideline to follow; just wants to be sure the city is 
producing the reports required by the auditors.  

 

6



     Page 6 
     February 18, 2014 
      Harbor Commission Minutes  
      DRAFT 

Member and Staff Comments 
 
Pyle: Commended VandenBosch on getting all the information together in response to the audit.  
 
Stephens: Questioned whether Marple communicated with VandenBosch on a variety of levels to 
which VandenBosch responded that Marple generally communicates by email so there is a record. 
 
Sullivan: Asked for an update on the weather buoy. VandenBosch reviewed the funding that has 
been put into place, noting that the city needs to get more donations for the capital expenditures.  
 
Stephens: Asked whether Western Michigan University has been approached regarding partnering 
on this. Stephens suggested looking into research universities that might have funds through grants.  
 
Pyle: Asked about cameras for the bridge tender. VandenBosch said that is part of the bridge 
reconstruction and while that has been re-bid, does not know if the bids have been received. 
VandenBosch noted that the city does have two (2) cameras and is looking into getting them put up. 
 
Adjourn 
 
Motion by Stephens, second by Pyle to adjourn at 7:06 p.m.  
 
All in favor. Motion carried. 

 
 
RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED, 
 
 
Marsha Ransom 
Recording Secretary 

7



Revenues: Month Actual
YTD 

Actual
2013-14

Adopted Budget
State GrantS-Bldg & Dredging -$                               -$                            -$                                          
Interest and Rents 11                                  89                               15,106                                       
Charges for Service 9,842                             457,233                       510,000                                     
Other Revenue 223                                2,930                          8,740                                         

Total Revenues 10,075$                         # 460,252$                     533,846$                                   

Expenses: Month Actual 0
YTD 

Actual
2013-14

Adopted Budget
Personnel Costs 1,249$                           55,946$                       62,118$                                     
Supplies 20                                  2,915                          7,000                                         
Admin/Computing/Equipment Fees 3,203                             26,148                         38,435                                       
Contractual Services 7,999                             134,704                       95,000                                       
Other Services and Charges 12,029                           97,690                         135,180                                     
Utilities 2,692                             27,442                         32,700                                       
Repairs and Maintenance -                                     9,838                          -                                                
Capital Outlay 471                                7,976                          -                                                
Operating Transfers Out 1,757                             14,053                         21,080                                       
Total Expenses 29,420                           -   376,713                       391,513                                     
Depreciation -                                     -                                  133,300                                     

Total Expenses and Depreciation 29,420$                         376,713$                     524,813$                                   

Net Fund Change (19,344)$                        83,539$                       9,033$                                       

Retained Earnings June 30 2,475,738$                  
Less Net Capital Assets (2,379,613)$                 

 Net Undesignated Reserves 96,125$                      

Add Seasonal Rentals paid but not posted to income yet 220,033$                     
Deduct Expenses paid in advance, not posted to expense yet
Deduct Receivables owed to Marina but not yet received (49,260)$                    
Deduct State amounts owed to Marina but not yet received (3,880)$                      
Add current expenses owed but not paid yet 46,008$                      

Adjusted Undesignated Reserves 392,565$                    

Cash & Investments Balance at month end 392,565$                    

City of South Haven
Marina Fund - Fund 594

For the period ended February 28, 2014

8



Marina Fund Revenue

Marina Fund Revenue
As of February 28, 2014

Fiscal Year Ending in Revenue Operational Net
Seasonal Transient Total Expense Revenue NOTES ON OPERATIONAL EXPENSES:

2002 234,236 161,984 396,220 369,081 27,139
2003 259,840 166,084 425,924 403,463 22,461
2004 280,151 167,907 448,058 429,353 18,705 Operational Expense does not include depreciation of approximately $133,000 per year.
2005 282,245 170,944 453,189 479,287 -26,098 Operational Expenses do not include large construction expenses.
2006 300,819 173,817 474,636 517,881 -43,245 Operational Expenses do not include the annual transfer to the River Maintenance Fund
2007 343,171 170,869 514,040 471,088 42,952 of approximately $21,080 annually. 
2008 368,408 168,362 536,770 493,906 42,864
2009 377,955 166,674 544,629 492,039 52,590
2010 350,635 161,584 512,219 485,399 26,820
2011 314,270 140,546 454,816 521,900 -67,084
2012 330,660 151,046 481,706 427,390 54,316
2013 377,199 89,267 466,466 599,418 -132,952 Operating Expense excludes reimbursable dredging costs
2014 357,484 99,749 457,233 285,342 171,891

Seasonal Marina Revenue Calendar Year
Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Total

2007 58,007 147,702 34,975 42,960 23,115 -3,846 6,199 1,554 703 1,100 22,348 19,285 354,102
2008 60,795 185,520 32,325 36,210 19,130 16,761 820 50 0 6,550 26,799 900 385,860
2009 44,784 185,069 32,390 25,955 31,150 23,488 843 50 850 900 27,990 1,000 374,469
2010 13,035 218,460 41,530 20,235 5,050 20,692 0 434 350 200 29,812 1,000 350,798
2011 43,222 157,210 38,473 31,230 12,498 -158 800 1,950 400 1,100 17,625 8,865 313,215
2012 31,810 178,650 44,840 14,750 31,795 -1,925 0 200 1,050 3,940 11,420 850 317,380
2013 29,476 169,790 80,125 37,555 28,362 14,431 0 0 750 7,735 7,300 7,545 383,069
2014 328,765 5,389 334,154

Transient Marina Revenue Calendar Year
Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Total

2007 0 0 0 8,528 11,494 39,340 56,647 48,986 10,983 1,553 -41 0 177,490
2008 0 0 0 11,657 8,957 29,620 53,315 53,501 11,385 630 0 0 169,065
2009 0 0 0 11,972 10,994 24,877 55,645 39,835 22,176 1,301 0 0 166,800
2010 0 0 0 8,445 9,029 25,154 52,730 40,107 8,654 1,299 0 0 145,418
2011 0 0 0 373 16,162 21,221 47,565 41,459 12,635 515 0 0 139,930
2012 0 0 0 4,684 12,448 31,740 40,344 21,935 4,392 0 -267 0 115,276
2013 0 706 3,502 2,466 3,689 12,501 33,066 40,527 17,724 843 359 542 115,924
2014 2,236 4,453 6,689

9



Revenues: Month Actual
YTD 

Actual
2013-14

Adopted Budget
State Grant -$                   # -$                     -$                           
Charges for Service (355)                   104,758               148,500                     
Interest and Rents 16                      131                      3,000                         
Other Revenue -                         -                           100                            

Total Revenues (339)$                # 104,889$            151,600$                  

Expenses: Month Actual
YTD 

Actual
2013-14

Adopted Budget
Personnel Costs -$                   23,423$               44,096$                     
Supplies -                         1,814                   3,000                         
Admin/Computing/Equipment Fees 2,066                 16,530                 24,795                       
Contractual Services 935                    10,815                 12,000                       
Utilities 633                    6,576                   7,702                         
Other Services and Charges 904                    6,123                   10,050                       
Repairs and Maintenance -                         7                          7,500                         
Capital Outlay -                         -                           -                                 
Operating Transfers Out to 296 483                    3,867                   5,800                         
Total Expenses 5,022                 69,155                 114,943                     

Depreciation -                         -                           50,300                       

Total Expenses and Depreciation 5,022$              69,155$               165,243$                  

Net Fund Change (5,361)$              35,734$               (13,643)$                    

Retained Earnings June 30 627,980$             
Less Net Capital Assets (466,574)$            

 Net Undesignated Reserves 161,407$            

Add Seasonal Rentals paid but not posted to income yet 41,673$               
Deduct Receivables owed to BRP but not yet received (6,880)$                
Deduct Expenses paid in advance, not posted to expense yet
Add(Deduct) Amount due to/ from Beach, Rev earned but not in cash -$                     
Add Accounts Payable owed but not paid yet -$                     

Adjusted Undesignated Reserves 231,934$            

231,934$            
Cash & Investments Balance at month end

City of South Haven
Black River Park Fund - Fund 545

For the period ended February 28, 2014

10



Black River Park Revenues

Black River Park Revenue
As of February 28, 2014

Fiscal Year Seasonal Transient Boat Launch & Seasonal Revenue Operational Net
 Ending Dock Dock Parking fees Launch Permit Total Expense Revenue Note: Operational Expense does not include depreciation of approximately 

2007 84,563 9,480 42,544 10,471 147,058 90,412 56,646 $50,000 per year.
2008 96,484 11,143 37,896 10,053 155,576 97,145 58,431 Operational Expenses do not include large construction expenses.
2009 93,239 9,240 37,261 11,922 151,662 99,992 51,670
2010 84,432 9,249 38,478 10,183 142,342 90,883 51,459 Transfer to River Maintenance Fund of approximately $5,800 annually
2011 66,393 8,658 42,038 3,859 120,948 113,430 7,518
2012 73,619 10,711 55,134 10,097 149,561 129,949 19,613
2013 71,440 9,150 47,844 10,980 139,414 102,155 37,259
2014 58,710 9,132 35,002 1,575 104,419 65,288 39,131

Boat Launching & Parking Fees Revenue Calendar Year
Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Total

2007 0 0 0 1,289 4,160 7,725 13,459 7,941 5,917 1,808 0 0 42,299
2008 0 0 0 831 2,768 5,172 11,030 10,046 4,709 2,170 0 0 36,726
2009 0 0 0 370 3,378 5,558 10,738 7,704 8,311 812 0 0 36,871
2010 0 0 0 527 6,102 4,284 13,972 11,844 2,799 2,186 0 0 41,714
2011 0 0 0 126 4,301 6,870 19,145 10,345 7,373 1,221 0 0 49,381
2012 0 0 0 0 7,000 10,050 19,667 9,346 4,702 2,376 1,031 112 54,285
2013 56 0 91 637 3,671 6,154 14,069 12,964 4,874 3,081 14 0 45,611
2014 0 0

Launching - Seasonal Permit Revenue Calendar Year
Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Total

2007 0 0 0 2,261 4,157 2,749 1,453 0 0 0 0 0 10,620
2008 0 0 0 1,885 3,743 2,972 1,620 0 0 0 0 0 10,220
2009 0 0 0 2,770 4,924 2,608 640 0 0 0 0 0 10,942
2010 0 0 0 1,370 7,158 1,015 1,546 0 75 0 0 150 11,314
2011 0 0 0 610 75 1,403 1,222 0 0 75 0 0 3,385
2012 0 0 0 600 6,620 1,580 1,200 0 0 -270 0 0 9,730
2013 0 100 400 2,400 3,900 3,250 1,050 200 50 0 0 100 11,450
2014 100 75

Seasonal Dock Revenue Calendar Year
Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Total

2007 9,140 27,530 6,155 11,695 12,270 5,762 0 0 250 400 5,200 4,787 83,189
2008 7,940 45,315 9,400 11,905 12,675 -1,388 0 0 200 2,000 5,009 1,655 94,711
2009 6,865 41,215 7,085 9,125 4,990 15,095 0 0 0 0 5,000 0 89,375
2010 3,740 30,265 19,680 11,325 15,585 -1,163 1,650 0 0 0 4,650 2,369 88,101
2011 6,550 22,995 3,740 7,215 8,505 8,720 727 3,707 0 1,680 2,175 4,670 70,684
2012 3,995 20,485 9,585 6,440 18,500 1,655 3,745 0 0 600 2,000 200 67,205
2013 3,070 24,760 11,180 6,850 17,300 1,735 55 985 0 800 4,700 2,650 74,085
2014 49,950 -430

Transient Dock Revenue Calendar Year
Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Total

2007 0 0 0 169 1,303 1,986 3,988 2,672 984 0 0 0 11,102
2008 0 0 0 329 1,562 1,609 2,571 2,904 1,204 303 0 0 10,481
2009 0 0 0 0 483 1,776 2,444 3,796 1,332 0 0 0 9,831
2010 0 0 0 0 748 930 2,657 2,479 746 0 0 0 7,560
2011 0 0 0 0 818 1,958 4,492 2,190 1,181 23 0 0 10,662
2012 0 0 0 0 604 2,221 3,567 2,325 1,125 98 0 0 9,939
2013 0 0 0 0 163 1,873 3,815 4,435 808 74 0 0 11,168
2014 0 0

11



Revenues: Month Actual
YTD 

Actual
2013-14

Adopted Budget
Assessments -$                   -$                -$                         
Interest and Rents -                     863                  -                           
Other Revenue -                     -                  -                           
Operating Transfers In 3,073                 24,587             36,880                     

Total Revenues 3,073$              25,449$          36,880$                  

Expenditures: Month Actual
YTD 

Actual
2013-14

Adopted Budget
Operating Supplies -$                   -$                500$                        
Contractual Services -                     13                    -                           
Repairs and Maintenance -                     -                  -                           
Capital Outlay -                     6,990               10,000                     

Total Expenditures -$                  7,003$            10,500$                  

Net Fund Change 3,073$               18,446$           26,380$                   

Prior Year End Fund Balance June 30 25,506$           

Estimated YTD Fund Balance 43,952$          

Cash & Investments Balance at month end 43,952$          

Projected Cash Balance at Fiscal Year End 51,886$          

City of South Haven
River Maintenance Fund - Fund 296

For the period ended February 28, 2014

12



Ft.

-1

0

+ 1

+ 2

+ 3

+ 4

+ 5

M.

-0.3

0

+ 0.3

+ 0.6

+ 0.9

+ 1.2

+ 1.5

2012

FEB

1986

MAR

1986

APR

1986

MAY

1986

JUN

1986

JUL

1986

AUG

1986

SEP

1986

OCT

1986

NOV

1986

DEC

1986

2013

JAN

1987

FEB

1986

1964

MAR

1986

1964

APR

1986

1964

MAY

1986

1964

JUN

1986

1964

JUL

1986

1964

AUG

1986

1964

SEP

1986

1964

OCT

1986

1964

NOV

1986

1964

DEC

1986

2012

2014

JAN

1987

1965

FEB

1986

1964

MAR

1986

1964

APR

1986

1964

MAY

1986

1964

JUN

1986

1964

JUL

1986

1964

CHART DATUM  577.5 FEET (176.0 METERS)

1985
1985

1973 1973

1936
1934

1926 1934

** Average, Maximum and Minimum for period 1918-2012

LAKES MICHIGAN-HURON

LAKES MICHIGAN-HURON WATER LEVELS - FEBRUARY 2014

LEGEND
LAKE LEVELS

RECORDED

PROJECTED

AVERAGE **

MAXIMUM **

MINIMUM **

13



March 11, 2014

TO: Harbor Commission

FR: Paul VandenBosch

RE: Michigan Maritime Museum Dock Request

License Agreement, Slip 28

The Michigan Maritime Museum has requested to use slip 28 at the Maritime Marina for 
docking of historic and character vessels.  This is the headwall area across from the Friends 
Goodwill dock.  The intent is that this area will be used as seasonal dockage for vessels.  

The 2014 annual seasonal slip fee for Slip 28 is $3,795.  The license agreement is a 10 year 
agreement.  The slip fees will change as fee changes to the Maritime Marina are approved by 
City Council during the annual marina rate setting process. 

Lease Agreement

For a number of years, the Wilhelm Baum was docked at Slips 29 and 30 of the Maritime 
Marina.  There was an agreement between the City and the owner of the Wilhelm Baum 
which provided this dockage for services.  In 2013, due to low water conditions at Slips 29 
and 30, the Wilhelm Baum was moved to the Friends Goodwill dock.

The Michigan Maritime Museum moved a floating dock into place, which was used for 
boarding excursion vessels.  Upon review of the agreements between the Museum and the 
City, it was discovered that Slips 29 and 30 are part of the Maritime Marina and not included 
in the lease agreement with the Museum.

Due to the fact that Slips 29 and 30 have been in use for docking of the Wilhelm Baum for 
many years, and due to the visible nature of this area on the Museum grounds, staff is 
requesting consideration of adding Slips 29 and 30 to the Museum lease, in other words 
granting control of the slips to the Museum.

The attached Addendum #9 to the Lease Agreement Between the City of South Haven and 
the Michigan Maritime Museum will transfer control of Slips 29 and 30 to the Museum.  The 
terms and conditions are similar to other docks included in the lease agreement.

This lease agreement will allow the Museum to expand its boat excursion operations and 
dock character vessels in the area in front of the Museum grounds.

Staff Recommendation:

Review the License Agreement and Lease Agreement.  If acceptable, recommend approval of 
the agreements to City Council.

14



LICENSE AGREEMENT

This License Agreement is made as of ___________, 2014, between the City of South Haven, a 
Michigan home rule  city,  the  principal  business  address  of  which is  539 Phoenix Road,  South Haven, 
Michigan 49090 (the "City"), and the Michigan Maritime Museum Inc., a Michigan nonprofit corporation, 
the principal business address of which is 260 Dyckman Road, South Haven, Michigan 49090 (“Licensee”).

RECITALS

A. Licensee desires to license from the City the space commonly known as Slip 28 
located along the 200 foot headwall within the existing Maritime Museum Municipal Marina in 
South Haven, Michigan, as further depicted on attached Exhibit A (“Licensed Premises”), for the 
purpose of docking and displaying historical vessels.

B. The City desires to license Slip 28 to Licensee, pursuant to the terms and conditions 
of this Agreement.

TERMS AND CONDITIONS

In exchange for the consideration in and referred to by this Agreement, the parties agree as follows:

1. Grant of License / Use.  The City grants to Licensee the license to use the Licensed Premises for the  
docking and display of historical vessels and/or character boats, and for no other purpose.  Licensee’s use of  
the  Licensed Premises  shall  comply with applicable  all  laws,  ordinances,  rules,  regulations,  orders  and 
directives of governmental bodies and officials of competent jurisdiction.  The Licensed Premises shall at all  
times  during  the  term  of  this  Agreement  be  used,  operated,  repaired  and  maintained  by  Licensee  in 
accordance with reasonably requirements of the City.

2. Term.  Unless terminated earlier pursuant to this Agreement, the term of the license shall commence  
on the date of this Agreement and terminate ten (10) year thereafter.

3. Fee.  The Licensee shall pay an annual license fee to the City equal to the then current seasonal slip 
rates established by the City for similar slips within the Maritime Museum Municipal Marina.  The first  
payment shall be due upon the execution of this Agreement, and each subsequent payment shall be due on or  
before January 31st of each calendar year thereafter.

4. Assignment or Use by Others Prohibited.  Licensee may not assign this Agreement or its rights, 
privileges, duties or obligations under this Agreement without the City’s prior written consent.  Licensee  
may not allow any other person or entity to use the Licensed Premises for any purpose without the City’s  
prior written consent.

5. Condition of License Premises.  This license is granted on an “as is” basis.  The City makes no 
representations or warranties about the condition of the Licensed Premises or its fitness for any purpose or 
use, and shall have no duty to maintain, repair, replace or improve any portion of the Licensed Premises.  
During the term of this Agreement, Licensee shall, at its sole expense, perform all repairs and maintenance  
necessary to keep the Licensed Premises and the improvements therein in good order and repair, reasonable 
wear and tear excepted.

7. Taxes and Special Assessments.  Licensee shall pay all personal property taxes assessed against any 
personal  property  located  on  the  Licensed  Premises  which  are  billed  anytime  during  the  term of  this 
Agreement.  If the real property comprising the Licensed Premises is assessed, then Licensee shall pay any 
taxes resulting from such assessment which are billed anytime during the term of this Agreement.  Licensee 
shall  also pay any installments of special assessments against the Licensed Premises which are due and 
payable anytime during the term of this Agreement. 

GRAPIDS 57671-1 314122v3 1
15



8. Changes to Licensed Premises.  No changes may be made to the Licensed Premises without the 
City’s prior written consent, which consent may be withheld in the City’s sole discretion.  The City may 
require  detailed plans  and specifications  and require  that  any such work be performed by a  contractor  
acceptable to the City.  At the termination of this License, such work may at the City’s option become the  
property of the City or, in the alterative, will be removed by Licensee at Licensee’s expense.  No liens 
arising from such work shall be placed against all or any part of the Licensed Premises or the Property. 

9. Indemnification and Insurance.  The City shall  not  be responsible for any loss or damage from 
whatever cause to personal property located on the Licensed Premises.  Licensee shall hold the City (defined  
for purposes of this paragraph to include the City’s officers and employees) harmless from, indemnify it for  
and defend it (with legal counsel reasonably acceptable to the City) against any demand, claim, judgment,  
award, legal proceeding or loss of any kind arising from Licensee’s use, occupancy, maintenance (or failure 
to maintain), or repair (or failure to repair) the Licensed Premises.  Licensee shall obtain and maintain a  
general liability insurance policy covering the Licensed Premises and Licensee’s activities on the Licensed 
Premises in minimal coverage amounts of $1,000,000 per occurrence and fire and casualty insurance with an 
extended coverage endorsement on any improvements placed or constructed by Licensee on the Licensed 
Premises equal in amount to the full insurable value of such improvements.  All policies shall name the City 
as an additional insured and certificate holder.  Copies of certificates of insurance showing the coverage to 
be in place, that the premiums are fully paid, and that coverage cannot be terminated or modified except 
after 30 days prior written notice to the City, shall be provided to the City.  Upon request the City shall be  
provided copies of the policies of insurance and all endorsements. 

10. Breach  and  Remedies.   All  remedies  in  this  Agreement  are  cumulative  of  all  other  remedies 
available at law or in equity.  Remedies may be exercised simultaneously or sequentially.  The failure to 
initially use any remedy is not a waiver of that remedy.  To the extent not otherwise prohibited by law, the 
prevailing party in any action brought pursuant to or to enforce any provision of this Agreement shall, in  
addition to any other remedies, be entitled to recover its actual costs, including without limitation, actual  
reasonable attorneys fees, incurred to bring, maintain or defend such action from the first demand through 
any and all appellate proceedings, and jurisdiction and venue of any action brought pursuant to or to enforce 
this Agreement shall be solely in the state courts in Ottawa County, Michigan.  The failure of either party to 
act upon any breach of this Agreement shall not be deemed a waiver of that breach.

11. Termination.  Each year during the term of this Agreement, the City shall have the right, in its sole 
discretion, to terminate the license granted pursuant to this Agreement for the following calendar year upon 
written notice  given to  Licensee no later  than November  15th of  the  then current  calendar  year.   The  
obligations to pay any and all fees and charges as provided in this Agreement and the obligation to provide  
insurance coverage and to indemnify the City as required in this Agreement shall survive any termination of 
the license granted under this Agreement whether such termination is due to the expiration of the license 
term or a result of action taken by the City pursuant to this paragraph.  

12. Right  of  Entry.  The City and its  agents shall  have the right  to enter  the Licensed Premises  at  
reasonable times.

13. Miscellaneous.

(a) This Agreement is written pursuant to the laws of the State of Michigan and was made in  
Van Buren County, Michigan.  This is the entire agreement between the parties regarding its subject 
matter.  There are no prior or contemporaneous agreements.  It may not be modified or amended 
except  in  writing,  signed by all  parties.  It  shall  not  be  affected by any course  of  dealing.  The 
captions are for reference only and shall not affect its interpretation.  More than one copy of this  
Agreement may be signed, but all constitute but one agreement.

(b) Any notices shall  be made in writing to the addresses first  written above or such other 
addresses as indicated by notice and shall  be made by personal  delivery or by postage prepaid  

GRAPIDS 57671-1 314122v3 2
16



United States first-class mail and shall be deemed completed when actually received or, if by first-
class mail, three business days after mailing.

The parties have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first above written.

CITY OF SOUTH HAVEN

By:                                                                               
      Robert Burr, Mayor   

By:                                                                               
      Amanda Morgan, Clerk

MICHIGAN MARITIME MUSEUM

By:                                                                               
      Gary Horton, President

By:                                                                               
      Patti Montgomery Reinert, Executive
      Director

            

GRAPIDS 57671-1 314122v3 3
17



Exhibit A
Depiction of Slip 28

GRAPIDS 57671-1 314122v3 4
18



All 
Seasons
Marine

Michigan 
    Maritime 

          Museum

2
1

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

26

25

24

23

22

21

20

19

18

17

16

11

10

12

13
14

15

Black River St

Museum Marina

196  

A 2

388

43

140

A 2

Marina Locator Map
Lake 

Michigan

Museum
Marina

DOCK #   SIZE
  1-26         40'
27-30         HW

27

28

29
30

20
0' 

HE
AD

WA
LL

100' HEADWALL

19



ADDENDUM #9 TO THE LEASE AGREEMENT
BETWEEN

THE CITY OF SOUTH HAVEN
AND

THE MICHIGAN MARITIME MUSEUM

This  Addendum  #8  is  made  as  of  _________________,  2014,  to  amend  the  Lease 
Agreement  between  the  CITY  OF  SOUTH  HAVEN (the  “City”),  and  the  MICHIGAN 
MARITIME MUSEUM, INC., a Michigan nonprofit corporation (the “Museum”), dated August 
5, 1997, as previously amended by Addendum #1 dated August 5, 1997; Addendum #2 that is 
undated;  Addendum  #3  dated  August  5,  1997;  Addendum  #4  dated  September  5,  1999; 
Addendum #5 dated April 15, 2002; Addendum #6 dated September 15, 2003; Addendum #7 
dated April 22, 2005; and Addendum #8 dated April 24, 2013.

RECITALS

A. The Museum wishes to lease the spaces commonly known as Slip 29 and Slip 30 
located along the 100 foot headwall within the Maritime Museum Municipal Marina in South 
Haven, Michigan, as further depicted on the attached Exhibit A (collectively, “Slips 29 & 30”), 
for the purpose of docking and displaying historical vessels.

B. The City is  amendable to amending the Lease to expand the definition of the 
Leased Premises to include Slips 29 & 30 pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Addendum 
#9.

TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Additional Use.  Regardless of any other term of the Lease, the definition of the Lease Premises 
is amended to include Slips 29 & 30 and the Museum may use, operate, repair and maintain Slips 
29 & 30 subject to the following:

a. The Museum accepts Slips 29 & 30 in as-is condition, and the City makes no 
warranties or representations as to the condition of the same or their fitness for 
any purpose or use.  

b. The Museum shall not make, or cause to allow to be made, any alterations to the 
Slips 29 & 30 except  pursuant to  plans and specifications  first  filed with and 
approved by the City and, if necessary, the MDEQ.

c. The Museum shall be solely responsible for the operation, maintenance and repair 
of  Slips 29 & 30 during the entire term of the Lease.  The City shall  have no 
responsibility for the operation, maintenance or repair of Slips 29 & 30. However, 
the City shall have such rights of entry, to make repairs, etc., as it has under the 
Lease with respect to the remainder of the Leased Premises. If the City undertakes 
such needed maintenance and repairs, it shall be at the Museum’s sole expense, 
and the Museum shall repay the City those amounts within 30 calendar days of 
the City’s invoice therefore. 

d. The Museum shall be solely responsible for providing and paying for any utility 
services to Slips 29 & 30.

20



e. The Museum shall provide the same insurance coverage for  Slips 29 & 30 as is 
required for the remainder of the Leased Premises including casualty,  liability, 
and all other coverage, and shall name the City and its officers and employees as 
additional insureds and certificate holders as is provided for the remainder of the 
Leased Premises.

f. Any use of Slips 29 & 30 shall comply with all applicable laws, rules, regulations, 
permit  or  license  requirements,  and  orders  or  directives  of  any  court  or 
governmental  official  or  agency of  competent  jurisdiction.  The Museum may, 
within  the  restrictions as mentioned, use  Slips 29 & 30 consistent with and in 
furtherance of its mission, programs and activities.

Availability  of  Slips  29 & 30.   It  is  acknowledged that,  for  various  periods  throughout  the 
boating season, Slip 29 and/or Slip 30 may be unoccupied by the Museum and available for use 
by transient boaters.  At such times, the Museum may, but shall not be obligated to, notify the 
Harbormaster, as a representative for the City, as to the availability of Slip 29 and/or Slip 30,  
specifying the length and dates of such availability.  In such event, the City shall charge boaters 
renting Slip 29 or Slip 30 the same rates as will be in place for all other similar boats throughout 
the City’s municipal marina.  All such fees collected by the City for the rental of Slip 29 and/or 
Slip 30 shall be split equally between the Museum and the City.

Other Lease Terms.  Except as specifically amended by this Addendum, all  the terms of the 
Lease shall remain in full effect. Without limiting the generality of the previous sentence, all of 
the Museum’s responsibilities, duties, and obligations with respect to any portion of the Leased 
Premises shall equally apply to Slips 29 & 30.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Addendum as of the date 
first written above.

CITY OF SOUTH HAVEN MICHIGAN MARITIME MUSEUM, INC.

By: ________________________________ By: _______________________________
       Robert Burr, Mayor          Gary Horton, President

By: ________________________________ By: _______________________________
          Amanda Morgan, Clerk        Patti Montgomery Reinert, Executive

       Director

2

21



Exhibit A
Depiction of Slips 29 & 30

GRAPIDS 57671-1 314092v3

3

22



HARBOR COMMISSION STRATEGIC PLAN
Approved April 17, 2012

Mission Statement

In the performance of it duties the Harbor Commission shall remain committed to the 
continuous improvement of the Black River Harbor by taking a long term view of the 
harbor's capacity, it's navigability, it's value to the community, and it's use by both public 
and private interests, and shall assure the health, safety and enjoyment of the harbor by 
providing recommendations for its maintenance and operation.

Goals and Objectives

A. Safety and Navigation

1. Dredging Needs of the Harbor

Assess the river conditions and prepare to perform maintenance dredging as 
necessary.  

Develop a checklist that outlines the steps to be used in assessing the need for 
dredging and the process of dredging.  

Maintain valid permits for maintenance dredging.  

Dredging is one element of a comprehensive Black River maintenance program that 
must be ongoing. 

Develop recommendations for maintaining ingress and egress to the harbor, including 
adequate depth at the pierheads.

Apply for any grant funding or other funding that becomes available for harbor dredging 
or other safety improvements.

2. Electrical Utilities

Encourage all marinas and private slips to upgrade their electrical wiring if they are 
making any electrical improvements.

3. Fueling of Marine Vessels 

1
23



The Commission has identified the direct fueling of boats as a major safety concern and 
has developed the following action steps to educate the public and enforce the laws 
regarding direct fueling:  

• Work with marina managers and commodores to have signs posted clearly 
explaining how and where boaters may fuel their boats.  

• Develop an educational campaign that can be used in local schools, boater 
safety classes, in the newspaper and other outlets.  

• Enlist support of the Van Buren County Sheriff Marine Patrol along with SHAES 
and South Haven Police to educate boaters on the dangers and laws regarding 
direct fueling.  Encourage warnings before citations and fines.  

• Send a letter to the State expressing concern and requesting a statement on the 
back of the Marina Operating Permit (MOP) stating: “Direct Fueling is against the 
law and can lead to revocation of this MOP”.

•
• Provide the fire code letter from the SHAES Executive Director to marinas.

4. Emergency Services

Promote a close working relationship with the Sheriff Marine Patrol, Coast Guard, Coast 
Guard Auxiliary, South Haven Police Department and South Haven Area Emergency 
Services.  Meet at least annually to discuss mutual issues related to harbor safety.

Review procedures to respond to fuel and contaminant spills.  

Encourage agencies to maintain oil absorbent equipment to manage emergencies.

5. Erosion and Contaminants

Work with the DEQ, DNR, Drain Commission, farmers and other entities to ensure 
proper procedures are followed to reduce erosion and contaminants in the river in the 
City and upstream from the City.  

Support testing for E. coli and work to resolve any related issues.

6. Harbor Traffic Flow and Safety

Identify ways to improve traffic flow especially on weekends and during special events  

Ensure that the channel between the harbor lines is kept clear of natural obstructions, 
anchored boats and barges, and all new docks and headwalls.  

2
24



Add a light to the bridge that will signal to boaters when the bridge is closing.

7. Public Access 

Support public access and use.  

Explore installation of a mast hoist for people launching sail boats at the boat launch.
 
Traffic at the launch area can be dangerous, identify safety improvements.  

8. Signage

Evaluate the current signs and upgrade/remove as necessary.  Locate signs 
strategically so as not to block valued views. 

Increase the number of No Wake signs, including adding signs at the bridge and at the 
Southside Marina.

B. Municipal Marina Facilities

1. Municipal Marina Facilities

Promote quality facilities at all municipal marinas.

The Southside Marina has excellent facilities (showers and restrooms, lounge and 
meeting rooms, picnic areas, etc) for its boaters.  Similar quality facilities should be 
provided to all other Municipal Marinas.  

The City should move forward expeditiously with the construction of a new facilities 
building at the Northside Marina. Support use of grant funding to replace the existing 
facility.

The City should upgrade and expand the restroom/shower facilities at the Museum and 
Black River Park Marinas, adding a lounge area.  These are likely to be long term 
projects.  

At Black River Park Marina and the Museum Marina, add a roof and screen walls to the 
new deck.  All facilities should be handicap accessible.  Boaters should be surveyed 
first to determine if this meets their needs.

3
25



Promote availability of bicycles for boater use at the municipal marinas.

C. Infrastructure

1. Develop a Capital Improvement Plan

A capital improvement plan should be developed for each of the marinas. The Harbor 
Commission should review the plan and identify projects that it would like to see 
completed.  The plan should include a budget and timeline for such improvements.

Annually review the River Maintenance capital improvement plan.

2. Dinghy Docks and Paddle Craft Facilities

Fully support the Pedestrian, Bicycle and Paddle Plan which was adopted by the City 
Council on 2/16/2009. Improve existing dinghy docks and access at the Dyckman 
bridge.

http://www.south-haven.com/csh%20folder/csh/Pages/Communications/PlansReportsStudies.html

Clean out and trim Celery Pond creek to create a small craft launch site and dinghy 
dock.  

Add a dinghy dock at the Museum Marina.

Try to design dinghy docks so they would be usable for a river launch service if one 
becomes available.

3. Harborwalk 

Complete the Harborwalk to include signage, lighting, benches, landscaping etc.  

Find and analyze the original plan for the Harborwalk to determine if the plan has been 
fully implemented.  If it has not continue implementing the plan.  

Improvements are needed on the public easements through Mariner’s Dockage and 
Pier’s End Cove.  

Complete Harborwalk to create a unified concept by adding better way finding signs, 
paving materials, improve interpretative plaques etc.  

Encourage a cooperative maintenance agreement between the City and the Michigan 
Maritime Museum.

4. Green Space/Views

4
26

http://www.south-haven.com/csh%20folder/csh/Pages/Communications/PlansReportsStudies.html


The Commission recommends that the city retain and acquire, when available, 
adequate public space along waterfronts.  These areas should be maintained and 
developed for open green space and public access.  

5. Former Street Garage

Add a sea wall extension and dinghy dock at the former street garage, encouraging 
natural sea walls.  

D.   Planning  

1. Future Development and Impact on Safe Navigation 

The Harbor Commission supports a detailed Harbor study that would update existing 
material from the 2001 Smith Group JJR report. To accomplish this we need to hire a 
competent and professional consultant to determine the capacity of the Black River 
Harbor and to provide guidance for future policy and decision making with a 10 year 
outlook.

The South Haven City Council should authorize a forward looking study of our Harbor to 
determine if additional slips and/or services are needed.  Is our Harbor at capacity 
(defined as its ability to safely handle its current usage)?  If not, how many additional 
boats can it handle given its current configuration?  Are additional slips needed?  If so, 
where should they be located?  If it is at capacity based upon current configuration, are 
there modifications that would permit increased capacity?  

Consider funding a comprehensive professional study.  The study should look at where 
are we and where do we want to be in the next 5 to 10 years.  This study should be 
delayed at this time due to the unusual economic conditions until a certain level of 
economic normalcy returns to the harbor.   In the interim, contact area schools, colleges 
and universities seeking their help with acquiring accurate data on size, quantity and 
frequency of use of vessels using the Black River.  Analyze the new numbers from the 
study with a focus on the last paragraph on page 4 of the JJR memorandum of 
4/23/2001 which discusses the capacity of the river based on channel widths.

Additionally the needs assessment should look at existing facilities to determine if they 
currently serve our needs, how they could be modified to best serve our needs today 
and what needs to be changed to best serve our future needs?  

A process needs to be defined, created, promoted and followed setting development 
goals and criteria based on consideration of our harbor size, location and boating and 
community concerns.

Continue to monitor and provide guidance on the new waterfront park extension east of 
the Steelheader’s fishing wall and its impact on safety and navigation

5
27



Any additional waterfront development or development affecting the waterfront must be 
scrutinized very carefully, both before, during and after the planned construction.  In 
advance of any construction the impact upon the harbor (which includes the Black River 
to the City limits) by the project as well as the proposed methods of construction of the 
project (remember Sherman Hills) must be carefully examined and evaluated.  The 
impact on boat traffic (if, for example, additional slips are proposed) and the impact 
upon navigation must be evaluated.  Of concern is erosion of soils flowing into the river 
caused by poor and unsupervised developments.

As proposals for the development are presented, the Harbor Commission will consider 
issues of need, safety, navigational hazards and environmental concerns and make 
appropriate recommendations. 

2. Development Approval Role

All projects using harbor maintenance funds and all developments along the river 
should come before the Harbor Commission for their recommendation.

Participate in any discussion regarding the Celery Pond property.

The Harbor Commission should have a role in any changes that affect marinas, river or 
harbor.

3. Natural Environment Preservation

Allow for innovative development without totally eliminating the vegetation and public 
access in the Black River around the present canoe launch area.

We need to be proactive on waterfront development for example Sherman Hills. The 
City needs to determine how the river needs to be protected when a development is 
proposed.  

Work with DNRE and other entities regarding environmental issues for the entire Black 
River Watershed. 

Encourage all marinas to achieve Clean Marina Status.

4. Effects of Development and Loss of Marine Services 

Assess whether we have adequate marine services in the harbor, including fueling, haul 
out, storage, marine repair service, marine parts and supply, dockage (seasonal and 
transient) and pump out facilities.  If some services appear to be lacking, encourage 
private businesses to provide them.  If private businesses are unable to provide the 
services or stop providing needed services, consider municipal services.

6
28



E. Funding 

1. Ongoing Dredging Project Funding
Investigate other sources of revenue for dredging.  

Recommend an increase from 3% to 6% of marina revenues set aside for the River 
Maintenance budget.

Recognize the need for additional funding for dredging and allocate some of the tax 
collection from the increased assessments of property and homes on the river for 
dredging.  

Request funding from the DDA to allocate toward harbor maintenance.

Determine if the current method of calculating special assessments for dredging is 
equitable and or if changes are needed.

2. Capital Improvement Plan

The Commission duties include an annual review of this plan along with the Black River 
Maintenance document. As part of that review recommendations must be made in a 
timely manner.

3. Harbor Budget Policies

It is the duty of the Commission to review and make recommendations to the annual 
River Maintenance, Marina Fund and Black River Park budgets in a timely manner so 
they can be considered during the budget adoption process of the City Council.  

All assessment categories should identify a budget and funding mechanism. Consider 
for example: 

• Future waterfront developments should be specifically assessed for their impact 
on the harbor.

• Establish a broad based assessment (as broad as possible) to fund the 
maintenance of the harbor.  

• Analyze the current income from the operation of the Municipal Marinas and 
Public Launch site to get a full understanding of the usage and to determine an 
appropriate contribution to harbor maintenance.

  

F. Marketing and Communication

1. Emergency Communication

7
29



Be in a position to communicate safety information for ongoing and emergency issues 
with marina owners, managers and users.  Develop ways to communicate safety 
information with boaters.

Establish an email list for contact with boaters and harbor stakeholders.

Install bulletin boards at the boat launch.

2. Marina Management

Evaluate management of municipal marinas.

There needs to be more communication with transient and seasonal boaters using 
marina facilities and the boat launch.  Create and distribute feedback cards to survey 
customer service and desired amenities.  Do customer satisfaction surveys on a regular 
basis and conduct appropriate follow up.

Include welcome packages with information on the City and local businesses, gifts and 
coupons.  Inform boaters where they can rent bicycles and vehicles.  

Install informational bulletin boards at all municipal marinas to inform boaters and the 
public of events, phone numbers, tourist information etc.  

Improve on-going staff training. 

Encourage development of a marina and harbor marketing plan on an annual basis.
 
The Commission needs to schedule annual meetings at the marinas to hear concerns 
and suggestions for improvements of services.  

3. River Stakeholders

Communicate with the City and its boards and commissions as well as the DEQ, DNR, 
Drain Commission, farmers, boaters etc. to ensure we maintain a high quality harbor, 
including water quality issues. 

Promote the Clean Marina program to harbor marinas and as a marketing approach for 
the harbor.

Use bulletin boards at marinas and boat launch to post Harbor Commission meeting 
schedule, agendas and Harbor Commission contact information.

8
30



4. Survey and Feedback Procedures

Survey boaters and slip owners to determine what services they want and how it should 
be provided.  Gather feedback and implement changes on dredging and other issues.

Survey all boaters, slip owners and marina owners regarding river maintenance and 
safety issues.  Use an email list to inform and listen to river stakeholders.

9
31



Capital Improvement Prioritization

Marina Fund Projects

27 Maritime Museum Dock Repair
26 Marina Electric Upgrades, North Side, South Side, Maritime Marina
24 Maritime Marina Restroom Replacement and Pavilion
22 Dinghy Docks and Paddle Craft Facilities Throughout Harbor
19 Harbor Signage, No Wake, Welcome, Municipal Marina Names
14 Harborwalk, Signage, Landscaping, Appearance Upgrades
7 Cruise Ship Dock
5 Floating Dinghy Docks in Marinas

Black River Park Projects

20 New BRP Marina Restroom (near Docks)
19 Fish Cleaning Station and Entrance Drive
14 BRP Street Garage Site Fishing Access
14 Dunkley Street Parking Lot (near Fish Cleaning Station)
10 BRP Parking Lot Repaving
7 BRP Kayak Launch, Pavilion

River Maintenance Projects

20 Dredging Capital Plan Funding (Save Funds for Next Major Dredging)
16 Land For Dredge Spoil Placement
16 Annual Maintenance Dredging, Black River
14 Fund Conservation District Projects to Minimize Erosion and Contaminants in River
11 Sedimentation Traps
7 Friends Goodwill Channel

32



City Council Agenda 
Manager’s Report 

March 3, 2014

 

 

 

City Council Manager’s Report 

 
Agenda Item 11 

MDNR Grant Applications for Black River Park 

 
 

 
Background Information: 
 

The City Council will be asked to consider resolutions authorizing the City Manager to apply 
for t w o  ( 2 )  M i c h i g a n  D e p a r t m e n t  o f  N a t u r a l  R e s o u r c e s  ( M D N R )  g r a n t  
p r o g r a m s  f o r  proposed improvements to Black River Park. 
 
The  grant  applications  seek  funds  for  construction  of  a  fishing  area,  seawall, and 
parking area improvements to Black River Park (at the site of the former Street 
Department.)  The seawall design will incorporate boulders, as opposed to a steel seawall, 
in an effort to provide a habitat for river species.  In 2011, the draft design was reviewed and 
approved by the City’s Harbor Commission and Parks Commission.  Should e i t h e r  o f  
the grant a p p l i c a t i o n s  be approved by the MDNR, staff will present an updated park 
design to those boards, and the Planning Commission for consideration, prior to seeking final 
approval from the City Council to construct the project. 
 
The MDNR is offering two grant programs which could be sought for the proposed 
improvements to Black River Park.  Staff desires to submit two separate applications, which 
should improve the city’s potential for a successful grant application.  The grant programs 
being sought are through the MDNR’s Land and Water Conservation Fund (LWCF,) and 
through the MDNR’s Aquatics Habitat (AH) program.  The application to the LWCF funding 
request seeks $78,100 in grant and the City will provide a local match of $78,100, for a total 
project cost of $156,200.  The second application, the AH funding request, seeks $105,000 
in grant and the City will provide a local match of $51,200, for a total project cost of 
$156,200.  Since both applications seek funds for the same project, the City will only accept 
one of the grants, should the MDNR approve the project.   
 
Over the past three years, the City has submitted an annual application to the Great Lakes 
Fishery Trust Fund, to help fund the proposed improvements at Black River Park.  Those 
applications have been denied with each submittal.  As a result, staff is now seeking 
alternate funding options for the project.   
 
For the City to proceed with the applications to the MDNR, staff recommends the approval 
of the following resolutions, which authorize the City Manager to apply to the LWCF and the 
AH programs. 
 

Recommendation: 

33



 

City Council Agenda 
Manager’s Report 

March 3, 2014 

The City Council should consider approval of Resolution 2014-11, a resolution which 
authorizes the City Manager to apply for Michigan Department of Natural Resources Aquatics 
Habitat grant program, for funds for the Black River Park improvement project. 
 
Further, the City Council should consider approval of Resolution 2014-12, a resolution 
which authorizes the City Manager to apply for Michigan Department of Natural Resources 
Land and Water Conservation Fund grant program, for funds for the Black River Park 
improvement project. 

 
Support Material: 

Resolution 2014-11 
Resolution 2014-12 

 Planned Park Improvements 
 Abonmarche Memo 
 

34



Resolution 2014-11 
- 1 - 

CITY OF SOUTH HAVEN 
VAN BUREN AND ALLEGAN COUNTIES, MICHIGAN 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 2014-11 

 
A RESOLUTION TO ALLOW FOR THE APPLICATION OF AN AQUATICS HABITAT GRANT. 

 
 Minutes of a regular meeting of the City Council of the City of South Haven, Van Buren 
and Allegan Counties, Michigan, held in the City Hall, 539 Phoenix Street, South Haven, 
Michigan 49090 on March 3, 2014 at 7:00 p.m. local time. 
 

PRESENT:             
 
ABSENT:             
 

 The following preamble and resolution was offered by Member      and 
supported by Member    . 
 
WHEREAS, the City Commission believes the expansion of Black River Park through the 
project titled “Fishing Platform and Bank Stabilization Project” would not only increase public 
access, but universal accessibility to the Black River; and 
 
WHEREAS, more recreational opportunities would be of great benefit for the City’s year-round 
and seasonal residents and visitors; and 
 
WHEREAS, increased public access for residents and tourists to the City’s waterways is one of 
the City’s most important goals; and 
 
WHEREAS, the proposed application is supported by the City’s 5-year approved recreation 
plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City has made a financial commitment to the project in the amount of $51,200, 
in cash and/or force account; and 
 
BE IT THEREFORE RESOLVED, that the City Commission hereby authorizes submission of an 
Aquatics Habitat grant application for $105,000, and further resolves to make its financial 
obligation amount of $51,200 (33%) of a total $156,200 project cost, during the 2013-2014 fiscal 
year. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this resolution shall take effect upon passage by the City 
Council. 
 
RECORD OF VOTE: 
 
 Yeas:              
 
 Nays:              
 
RESOLUTION DECLARED ADOPTED. 
 
              

35



Resolution 2014-11 
- 2 - 

        Robert G. Burr, Mayor 
 
 

CERTIFICATION 
 
I hereby certify that the foregoing is a true and complete copy of a resolution adopted by the 
City Council at a meeting held on the 3rd day of March, 2014, at which meeting a quorum was 
present, and that this resolution was ordered to take immediate effect. Public notice of said 
meeting was given pursuant to and in compliance with the Open Meetings Act, Act No. 167 of 
the Public Acts of Michigan 1976 (MCL 15.261 et seq). 
 
 
 
              
        Amanda Morgan, City Clerk 

36



Resolution 2014-12 
- 1 - 

CITY OF SOUTH HAVEN 
VAN BUREN AND ALLEGAN COUNTIES, MICHIGAN 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 2014-12 

 
A RESOLUTION TO ALLOW FOR THE APPLICATION OF A LAND AND WATER 

CONSERVATION FUND GRANT 
 

 Minutes of a regular meeting of the City Council of the City of South Haven, Van Buren 
and Allegan Counties, Michigan, held in the City Hall, 539 Phoenix Street, South Haven, 
Michigan 49090 on March 3, 2014 at 7:00 p.m. local time. 
 

PRESENT:             
 
ABSENT:             
 

 The following preamble and resolution was offered by Member      and 
supported by Member    . 
 
WHEREAS, the City Commission believes the expansion of Black River Park through the 
project titled “Fishing Platform and Bank Stabilization Project” would not only increase public 
access, but universal accessibility to the Black River; and 
 
WHEREAS, more recreational opportunities would be of great benefit for the City’s year-round 
and seasonal residents and visitors; and 
 
WHEREAS, increased public access for residents and tourists to the City’s waterways is one of 
the City’s most important goals; and 
 
WHEREAS, the proposed application is supported by the City’s 5-year approved recreation 
plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City has made a financial commitment to the project in the amount of $78,100, 
in cash and/or force account; and 
 
BE IT THEREFORE RESOLVED, that the City Commission hereby authorizes submission of a 
Land and Water Conservation Fund application for $78,100, and further resolves to make its 
financial obligation amount of $78,100 (50%) of a total $156,200 project cost, during the 2013-
2014 fiscal year. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this resolution shall take effect upon passage by the City 
Council. 
 
RECORD OF VOTE: 
 
 Yeas:              
 
 Nays:              
 
RESOLUTION DECLARED ADOPTED. 
 

37



Resolution 2014-12 
- 2 - 

              
        Robert G. Burr, Mayor 
 
 

CERTIFICATION 
 
I hereby certify that the foregoing is a true and complete copy of a resolution adopted by the 
City Council at a meeting held on the 3rd day of March, 2014, at which meeting a quorum was 
present, and that this resolution was ordered to take immediate effect. Public notice of said 
meeting was given pursuant to and in compliance with the Open Meetings Act, Act No. 167 of 
the Public Acts of Michigan 1976 (MCL 15.261 et seq). 
 
 
 
              
        Amanda Morgan, City Clerk 

38



39



 

 30%
PCW

MEMORANDUM 
 
DATE: February 26, 2014 
 
TO: Brian Dissette, City Manager 
 
FROM: Kate Genellie 
 
RE: City of South Haven Black River Park expansion grant summary 
 
Project Name: Fishing Platform and Bank Stabilization Project 
 
Outline: The City is planning to expand Black River Park by turning an adjacent empty lot on 
the bank of the Black River into a park. As part of the project, a parking lot (which includes 
eight regular spaces and one handicapped space) would be built, the bank would be 
stabilized with a riprap retaining wall, and a universally accessible metal fishing platform would 
be installed. Further phases of the park would include landscaping and a gazebo. The plan is 
to take a popular fishing area (Black River Park) and expand it into a family-friendly park.  
 
The kind of universal accessibility that this project would offer is vital to the goals of the South 
Haven Recreational Plan. The project would be part of the City’s central strategy to offering 
increased recreational opportunities and enhanced public access to the community’s natural 
resources and waterways – two of the nine goals of the City’s Recreational Plan. 
 
The City is applying to two different DNR grants. If both grants are awarded, the City has a 
couple of options. The City can either accept both grants and negotiate an expanded 
project scope, or keep the project scope discussed above and pick the grant that’s most 
advantageous for the City. 
 
Grants: 

-       DNR Aquatics Habitat: The funding request will be $105,000 and the City will provide a 
33% match of $51,200 for a total project cost of $156,200. 

-       DNR Land and Water Conservation Fund: The funding request will be $78,100 and the 
City will provide a 50% match of $78,100 for a total project cost of $156,200. 

 

40



March 11, 2014

TO: Brian Dissette

FR: Paul VandenBosch

RE: Weather Buoy Grant Application

In January, the City and Limnotech submitted a preproposal for a grant to fund the acquisition 
of a weather buoy to NOAA.  NOAA responded encouraging the submittal of a full proposal 
for the grant.

Limnotech has provided a letter regarding project estimated costs, and how the annual 
operation and maintenance cost would be funded and invoiced.  Limnotech will invoice the 
donors directly.  Annual costs are estimated to be $27,550 or less, depending on the level of 
maintenance needed, and on local assistance in deploying and retrieving the buoy.

The South Haven Steelheaders have been working to find donors for the weather buoy 
project.  Donors include Van Buren County, South Haven Yacht Club, South Haven 
Steelheaders, the Convention and Visitor's Bureau, Covert Generating, Coast Guard Auxiliary 
and River Bend Boat Club.  The City's proposed commitment to the weather buoy is $5,000 
per year for five years.  As of March 11, total annual commitments are $15,000.  The South 
Haven Steelheaders are continuing to solicit donors.  

In order to proceed with the grant application, City Council is requested to commit to a 
payment of $5,000 per year for five years (if the grant is approved), and to authorize submittal 
of the weather buoy grant application to NOAA.

Recommendation:

Commit to payment of $5,000 per year for five years for weather buoy operation and 
maintenance if the grant is approved, and authorize submittal of the weather buoy grant 
application to NOAA. 

41



SEA GRANT PROJECT SUMMARY FORM 
 
 
 
(1)  INSTITUTION:  LimnoTech    (1a)  ICODE: 
(2)  TITLE: Developing a sustainable nearshore buoy network through stakeholder engagement and 
outreach 
(3)  PROJECT NUMBER:         (4)  REVISION DATE: 
(5)  PROJECT STATUS:       (6)  INITIATION DATE:  

(7)  COMPLETION DATE: 
(8)  SUB PROGRAM: 
(9)  PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATOR:  Edward Verhamme  (9b)  EFFORT: 0.5 months 
(9a)  AFFILIATION:  LimnoTech 
(9c)  AFFILIATION CODE: 
 
(10)  CO-PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATOR:  Paul VandenBosch  (10b)  EFFORT: 0.5 months (match) 
(10a)  AFFILIATION:  City of South Haven 
(10c)  AFFILIATION CODE: 
 

 

 (13)  S.G. FUNDS: $50,000    (14)  STATE MATCHING FUNDS: $60,000 
(15)  LAST YEAR'S SG FUNDS:     (16)  LAST YEAR'S MATCHING FUNDS:  
(17)  PASS-THROUGH FUNDS: na   (18)  LAST YEAR'S PASS-THROUGH FUNDS: na 
(19) RELATED PROJECTS: 
(20) PARENT PROJECTS: 
(21) SEA GRANT STRATEGIC PLAN CLASSIFICATION: 

42



Project Narrative 
 
The major objective of this project is to increase access to nearshore real-time marine 
observations in West Michigan and Northwest Indiana.    This objective will be accomplished 
through two major components.  The first component is working with community groups in 
South Haven, MI to acquire a real-time weather buoy to complete the network of nearshore 
buoys along the stretch of the Lake Michigan shoreline from Muskegon, MI to Michigan City, 
IN. This will be accomplished in the summer of 2014. The second component of the project is 
developing and implementing an outreach plan to reach critical decision makers, residents, and 
tourists of eight coastal and three other counties that are served by five nearshore buoys and 
deployed by three different organizations. The outreach plan will help buoy owners and 
operators to engage local stakeholders to develop a sustainable funding model. This will be 
accomplished in the summer and fall of 2014. 
 

The stretch of Lake Michigan shoreline from Muskegon, MI to Michigan City, IN contains some 
of the most popular beaches in the Great Lakes 
and is home to a very large community of sport 
fishermen and pleasure boaters.  The population 
of the eleven county region is 2.5 million people.  
In 2011, the first nearshore real-time buoy was 
deployed near Bridgeman, MI (10 miles south of 
St. Joseph, MI).  By 2012 nearshore buoys were 
added in Muskegon (MI), Port Sheldon (MI), and 
Michigan City (IN).  Each of these buoys is 
funded by different organizations and for a 
different primary purpose.  However, each buoy 
measures basic marine conditions and reports 
them in real-time to NOAA and the public.    
Presently the largest gap in marine observations is 
a 70 mile stretch between Bridgman, MI and Port 
Sheldon, MI.  The National Weather Service 
(NWS) in Grand Rapids has identified South 
Haven as a major gap in nearshore observations.  
The map to the right (Figure 1) shows the location 
of the buoys and the distance between each buoy 
along with the proposed buoy in South Haven, MI.   
 

This project would provide funds to purchase a buoy 
to fill this gap to increase the accuracy of nearshore forecasts including the potential for 
hazardous rip currents and high waves that affect swimmers and boaters.  The buoy would be 
capable of measuring basic marine conditions such as air temp, relative humidity, pressure, wind 
speed & direction, wave height, period, and direction.   At this pre-proposal stage, the City of 
South Haven and Van Buren County have each made a $5,000 per year commitment toward the 
costs to deploy, retrieve and maintain the buoy for five years.  In addition, the City of South 
Haven has invested significant resources to increase swimming and boating safety and views the 
buoy as an opportunity to provide up to date local conditions.  As well as measuring basic marine 
conditions other local organizations would like to expand the number of instruments on the buoy 

20 mi

35 mi

35 mi

23 mi

35 mi

Figure 1.   Location of buoys along 
shoreline. 

43



to measure water temperature at depth (10 node thermistor string), water speed and direction 
(ADCP), and to add a webcam to capture high definition video clips and images.   These 
organizations include local fishing clubs, a nuclear power plant, and a local TV station in Grand 
Rapids.   
 

The second part of this project is focused on reaching out to critical decision makers, residents, 
and tourists of eight coastal (Muskegon, Ottawa, Allegan, Van Buren, and Berrien counties in 
Michigan and Lake, Porter, and LaPorte counties in Indiana) and three interior counties (Kent, 
Kalamazoo, and Cass in Michigan).  The outreach efforts will focus on two goals.  The first goal 
is to inform and educate individuals about the buoy network, the types of data that are being 
reported, and how they can use the data to improve safety and preparedness on the water.  The 
second goal is to work with local organizations and buoy owners and operators to develop a 
sustainable funding model for each buoy.   
 

The first group that will be targeted by the outreach efforts includes critical decision makers such 
as forecasters from the National Weather Service offices in Northern Indiana and Grand Rapids, 
US Coast Guard & Auxiliary personnel, County Sheriff marine patrol, other county emergency 
personnel, and other critical personnel.  The second group that will be targeted by the outreach 
effort includes community organizations and individuals with interests in beaches and boating in 
the eleven counties previously identified.  This includes fishing clubs, yacht clubs, tourism 
agencies, beach owners, marina owners, and others.  We will develop a set of common outreach 
tools that can use to engage the local stakeholders to educate them how to access and interpret 
data from the buoys.  A brochure or rack card will be created describing the nearshore buoys, 
where they are located, who owns/operates them, and how to obtain up to date conditions.   
 
Matching & Leveraged Funds  
The first part of this project involves working directly with the City of South Haven to deploy, 
retrieve, and maintain a nearshore buoy off of South Haven in Lake Michigan.  All of the funds 
required for the labor and other direct costs associated with deploying and maintaining the buoy 
will be covered by matching funds from partners.   The City of South Haven and Van Buren 
County have already committed to contributing $10,000 annually to support this effort.  In 
addition, the City will provide fiduciary services for local community group partners who will 
solicit the remaining funds required to deploy, retrieve and maintain the buoy.  The Louis Padnos 
Iron and Metal Company has agreed to provide the mooring anchor for the buoy. A local TV 
station, WOODTV 8, out of Grand Rapids, MI has also agreed to support the project by covering 
the buoy’s launch and donating $5,000 in air-time that can either be used by the project team or 
sold to raise funds for the buoy.  Estimated total match for the first year is $60,000.   
 
Outreach components of the project will be coordinated through contacts at Illinois-Indiana 
SeaGrant and Michigan Sea Grant.  Tomas Hook at Illinois-Indiana Sea Grant, Dan O’Keefe and 
Elizabeth LaPorte at Michigan Sea Grant, and Steve Ruberg at NOAA-GLERL have all agreed 
to contribute to the outreach efforts. Dan O’Keefe has agreed to provide matching time to update 
regional contact lists to include marine related organizations and assist with meeting 
coordination by providing free space rental at county buildings.    

44



Budget Narrative 
Task 1 – Completion of nearshore buoy network - $40,000 
 

Funds from this task would be used to acquire a buoy hull equipped with batteries and solar 
panels, a cellular modem, data logger, and sensors capable of measuring wind speed and 
direction, air temperature and relative humidity, air pressure, wave height, period, and direction.  
LimnoTech has extensive experience acquiring, integrating, and testing equipment capable of 
measuring the above parameters in the open waters of the Great Lakes.  LimnoTech currently 
owns and maintains nearshore buoys in Bridgeman, MI and Grand Haven/Holland, MI.  A 
portion of the funds ($5,000) will be used to support grant management and reporting 
requirements.  
 

Local matching funds will be used to add on additional sensors to measure water temperature at 
depth, a webcam, and Acoustic Doppler Current Profiler (ADCP).    In addition, local matching 
funds will be used to support LimnoTech to deploy, maintain, and retrieve the buoy for at least 
five seasons.  The match provided to install additional sensors is estimated at $30,000.  The 
match provided to deploy, retrieve, and install the buoy is estimated at $30,000 for the first year, 
which also includes deploying the mooring. This is a total of $60,000 in estimated match.  At this 
time we only have approximately $20,000 in total match committed by local partners. This will 
be drawn out in further detail in the full proposal. 
 
Task 2 – Outreach in Northern Indiana/West Michigan coastal counties - $10,000 
 
This task will be used to support outreach activities within Northern Indiana and West Michigan.  
We plan to coordinate outreach activities with local Sea Grant extension educators and have been 
in contact with Dan O’Keefe of Michigan Sea Grant and Carolyn Foley of Illinois-Indiana Sea 
Grant as well as with NOAA-GLERL, Steve Ruberg, as they own/operate the buoy in 
Muskegon.  $5,000 will be used by LimnoTech to provide technical assistance to identify local 
contacts, develop workshop materials,  
 
Letters of Support  
Attached to this project proposal are three letters of support.  The first one is from the City of 
South Haven, which expressed the City’s interest in the project and its commitment support the 
deployment, retrieval, and maintenance of the buoy for at least five seasons.  The second letter of 
support is from County Commissioner John Henry of Van Buren County, which is also pledging 
to support the project and provide a portion of the O&M funds.  The third letter is from State 
Senator John Proos and State Representatives Aric Nesbitt and Tonya Schuitmaker.  These three 
represent the entire state delegation of the Michigan legislature that covers the South Haven area 
and support the buoy project and its objectives.    
 
Due to space limitations we were not able to include all the letters of support we received for this 
project from eight additional community groups.  These include letters from New Covert 
Generating Company, Entergy Nuclear Operations (maintains Palisades Nuclear Power Plant), 
Louis Padnos Metal Iron and Metal, South Haven Yacht Club, Covert Township, South Haven 
Area Emergency Services, South Haven Public Schools, South Haven Rotary Club, and the 
South Haven Steelheaders Association.    

45



OMB Control No. 0648-0362 
Expiration Date 7/31/2011 

SEA GRANT BUDGET FORM 90-4 
             

GRANTEE: LimnoTech GRANT/PROJECT NO.: 

PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATOR:  Edward Verhamme DURATION (months) :12 
months Yr. 

SALARIES AND WAGES:  man-months Sea Grant 
Funds 

Matching 
Funds  No. of 

People 
Amount 
of Effort  1. Senior Personnel   

  a. (Co) Principal Investigator: 1 0.45 $5,280  
  b. Associates (Faculty or Staff):     
       Sub Total:     
   
 2. Other Personnel   
  a. Professionals:     
  b. Research Associates:     
  c. Res. Asst./Grad. Students:     
  d. Prof. School Students:     
  e. Pre-Bachelor Student(s):     
  f. Secretarial-Clerical:     
  g. Technicians:     
  h. Other:     
  Total Salaries and Wages:       
   
B.  FRINGE BENEFITS:    
        Total Personnel  (A and B): $2,720  
   
C.  PERMANENT EQUIPMENT: $40,000 $30,000 
   
D.  EXPENDABLE SUPPLIES AND EQUIPMENT: $2,000  
   
E.  TRAVEL:   
 1. Domestic   
 2. International   
     Total Travel:   
   
F.  PUBLICATION AND DOCUMENTATION COSTS:   
   
G.  OTHER COSTS:   
 1.Local Match to support mooring, retrieval, deployment  $30,000 
 2.   
 3.   
 4.   
 5.   
 Etc.   
       Total Other Costs:   
   
TOTAL DIRECT COST (A through G): $50,000 $60,000 
   
INDIRECT COST (On campus      % of                 ):   
INDIRECT COST (Off campus      % of                 ):   
  Total Indirect Cost:   
   
TOTAL COSTS: $50,000 $60,000 

 

46



Edward M. Verhamme 
Environmental Engineer 

 

Areas of Specialization: 
Smartphone Application 

Development 
Real-Time Observation Support 
Wind/Wave Buoy Development 
Surface Water Quality Modeling 
Aquatic Ecosystem Modeling 
Hydrodynamic/Hydraulic 

Modeling 
Database Application 

Development 
Nutrients – Eutrophication 

Issues 
Environmental Sampling 
 
Education: 
MS, Environmental Engineering, 

Michigan Technological 
University, 2005 

BS, Environmental Engineering, 
Michigan Technological 
University, 2003 

 
Professional Certifica-
tions/Affiliations:  
International Association of 

Great Lakes Research 
OSHA 40-hour Health and 

Safety Training Certified 
 
Career Highlights: 
• Deployment of three real-

time buoys around the 
Great Lakes 

• Design of smartphone 
application to deliver real-
time advisory status for all 
Great Lakes 

• Eutrophication Modeling of 
large embayments on the 
Great Lakes including 
Saginaw Bay, Sandusky 
Bay, and Maumee Bay 

• Assisting EPA researchers, 
performed spring water 
quality assessment of 
southern Lake Superior and 
various limnological 
sampling  

• Served as chief scientist and 
research scientist on 
university sampling 
expeditions in Lake Superior 

• Provided limnological 
expertise to students in field 
and classroom explorations 
and experiments 

Mr. Verhamme is a Project Engineer with 
LimnoTech and has been involved on a 
variety of Great Lakes projects including 
development of smartphone applications 
and working to deliver real-time 
observations to Great Lakes Communities 
through a public buoy network. He has 
also been involved with hydrodynamic 
modeling and application of water quality 
models since joining the firm in June 
2005.  

Mr. Verhamme has worked on a variety 
of high-profile modeling projects, 
including the Lake Pepin TMDL project, 
the recent Saginaw Bay Multiple 
Stressors project, Lake Champlain, and 
other Great Lakes modeling projects 
including the Buffalo River, Niagara River, 
Maumee Bay/Lake Erie, Sandusky 
Bay/Lake Erie, southern Lake Michigan, 
and western Lake Superior.  

In addition to modeling Mr. Verhamme 
has been involved with several projects 
supporting the Great Lakes Observing 
System. These projects involved reaching 
out to stakeholders and identifying 
products and tools that managers need to 
support decision-making. Mr. Verhamme 
has also contributed to the development 
of a new web portal for the Great Lakes 
Observing System to display data and 
model output through a map-based 
interface. 

Key Project Experience 

Deployment of Real-Time Buoys in 
the Great Lakes. 2011-Present. Worked 
as technical and development lead to 
acquire, deploy, and maintain three real-
time buoys in Lake Michigan and Lake 
Erie for a variety of public and private 
clients. Buoys were deployed for a variety 
of public and private clients including the 
National Weather Service, Great Lakes 
Observing System, US Army Corps of 
Engineers, and D.C. Cook Nuclear Power 
Plant.  Also developed a text message 
service to retrieve current observations 
from all Great Lakes stations.  

Development of a 3-D Hydrodynamic-
Water Quality-Sediment Transport 
Model of Maumee River/Bay, Lake 
Erie. 2009-present. Worked on a team to 
develop a fine-scale hydrodynamic 
(EFDC) and water quality (RCA) model of 
Maumee River, Maumee Bay, and the 
western portion of Lake Erie. The model 
will be used by the USACE–Buffalo 
District and for an NSF-funded multi-year 
research project to assess the impact 
that the Maumee River has on sediment 
deposition in the navigation channel and 
water quality impacts in Lake Erie. 

Preparation of a Discussion Paper on 
Lake Erie Phosphorus Targets. 2013. 
Working as a contractor to Environment 
Canada to prepare a discussion paper to 
inform the Annex 4 update to the Great 
Lakes Water Quality Agreement to lay out 
an approach to develop new phosphorus 
load targets for every Great Lake. 

Western Lake Erie Water Quality 
Modeling. 2010-Present. Responsible for 
the development, calibration, and 
application of a three dimensional 
hydrodynamic and water quality model of 
the Western Basin of Lake Erie. The 
model simulates transport of nutrients, 
solids, and harmful algal blooms.  Clients 
include the US Army Corps of Engineers 
and a National Science Foundation 
project lead by Stanford University. 

Development of a Smartphone 
Application to Deliver Beach Closing 
Data. 2010-Present. Served as a project 
manager to develop a smartphone 
application in collaboration with the Great 
Lakes Commission to deliver real-time 
beach closing data from Great Lake’s 
state reporting websites to the public. 
The application uses GPS positioning 
information to locate the closest beach to 
the user and also reports weather, wind 
and wave forecasts, and current 
observations.  

47



Great Lakes Observing System Data Management 
and Communications (DMAC) Support. Mr. Verhamme 
has been a member of the GLOS DMAC Team, which is 
responsible for operating and improving the infrastructure 
necessary to connect environmental data to Great Lakes 
managers, planners, and decision-makers on behalf of 
NOAA’s Integrated Ocean Observing System. He has 
provided support and feedback to GLOS and agency staff, 
researchers, and data users to identify needs, determine 
requirements for products to address those needs, and 
supervise implementation, testing and release of 
appropriate decision-support products available at 
www.glos.us. 

Development of a Long-Term Mass Balance Model of 
Missisquoi Bay, Lake Champlain. 2010 – 2012. Served 
as the project manager to develop a fine-scale 3D 
hydrodynamic and water quality model of Missisquoi Bay. 
The model will simulate the long-term fate and transport 
of phosphorus throughout the system and the impact of 
sediment release of phosphorus on water column 
concentrations.  

Development of a Near-Term Design Document for 
the Great Lakes Observing System Enterprise 
Architecture. 2010-Present. Working with NOAA to 
develop a design document that will lay out the 
framework of the Great Lakes Observing System. The plan 
will be used by all federal agencies in the Great Lakes as a 
blueprint to develop, implement, and maintain an 
observing system to meet the needs of the Great Lakes 
community.  

Development of a Process-Oriented Aquatic 
Ecosystem Model to Investigate Multi-Stressor 
Interactions for Saginaw Bay. 2008-Present. Mr. 
Verhamme is working on the development of a linked, 
three-dimensional hydrodynamic and eutrophication 
model framework to evaluate multi-stressor interactions 
for Saginaw Bay. The model framework consists of the 
EFDC hydrodynamic model and an enhanced version of 
the Row-Column AESOP (RCA) model known as the 
“Advanced Aquatic Ecosystem Model” (A2EM).  

Water Intake Assessment Services for a Nuclear 
Power Plant. 2008-Present. Served as co-project 
manager and technical lead to collect temperature, 
velocity, turbidity, wind, sediment, and other data from 
southeastern Lake Michigan to support the siting of a new 
water intake structure. Also worked with NOAA-GLERL to 
analyze temperature model results for the last 10 years to 
determine the year-to-year variability in the monthly 
average temperature offshore of the Donald C. Cook 
Nuclear Power Plant. 

Develop a Model Inventory of Great Lakes Models. 
2009. Worked with the Great Lakes Observing System 
(GLOS) to develop an Access database of Great Lakes 
models. The model inventory will be used to increase 
collaboration among Great Lakes researchers and 

managers. During the process, communicated with many 
researchers in the Great Lakes Community.  

Development of a PCB TMDL for Lake Ontario for 
NYSDEC. 2009. Worked as the technical lead to assist 
NYSDEC in developing a PCB TMDL for Lake Ontario. 
Estimated point source contributions using existing data 
and ran the LOTOX2 model to assist in the setting of PCB 
targets and reduction scenarios.  

Water Quality Modeling in Support of CSO Long 
Term Control Planning, Buffalo, New York. 2008-
present. Responsible for the development, calibration, and 
application of a 2-D hydrodynamic and water quality 
model (EFDC) of the Buffalo River, Black Rock Canal, and 
the Niagara River to simulate the impact of CSOs on 
receiving water quality. Parameters of concern included 
dissolved oxygen and bacteria.  

Development and Application of a Water Quality 
Model for Lake Pepin, Minnesota TMDL. 2008. 
Responsible for the recalibration of a linked hydrodynam-
ic-water quality model of 100 miles of the Upper 
Mississippi River System to address turbidity and nutrient 
impairments. Also assisted on SAV modeling and 
temperature modeling throughout the system  

Recent Publications & Presentations 

Michalak A.M., Verhamme, E.M. et al. 2013. Record-
setting algal bloom in Lake Erie caused by agricultural and 
meteorological trends consistent with expected future 
conditions. Proc. National Academy of Sci.  

Verhamme, E.M. 2013. Overview of Nearshore Buoys in 
Lake Michigan. Presentation to NOAA National Weather 
Service forecasters across Lake Michigan.  Chicago, IL. 
August 13, 2013.  

Verhamme, E.M. and T. Dekker. 2012. Industry 
Perspective on Real-Time Buoys: Cook Nuclear Plant. 55th 
Annual Conference on Great Lakes Research. Cornwall, 
Ontario. May 17, 2012. 

Verhamme, E.M., J.V. DePinto, and T.M. Redder. 2012. 
Long Term Phosphorus Management in Missisquoi Bay, 
Lake Champlain. 55th Annual Conference on Great Lakes 
Research. Cornwall, Ontario. May 17, 2012. 

Kaur, J., J.V. DePinto, J.F. Atkinson, E. Verhamme; and 
T.C. Young. 2012. Development of a spatially resolved 
linked hydrodynamic and exposure model (LOTOX2) for 
PCBs in Lake Ontario. J. Great Lakes Res. V. 38. pp 490-
503. 

Verhamme, E.M., M.T. Auer. 2009. Comparison of 
carbon flux and indicators of bioavailability at nearshore 
and offshore locations in Lake Superior. Verh. Int. Ver. 
Limnol. 30 (8), 1239–1241. 

 

48

http://www.glos.us/


Curriculum Vitae

Paul K. VandenBosch

Paul VandenBosch
757 Superior Street
South Haven, Michigan 49090
(269)-637-0775 (Work)
(269)-637-2516 (Evenings)
paulkvandenbosch@gmail.com
US Citizen

Education:
Doctorandus Planologie (Master in Urban Planning), 
Katholieke Universiteit Nijmegen (now Radboud Universiteit) Nijmegen, the Netherlands. 
1995.

Bachelor of General Studies, Geography and Urban Planning, 
The University of Michigan, Ann Arbor. 1985.

High School Diploma
Holland Christian High School, Holland, Michigan. 1979.

Professional Experience:
Assistant City Manager
City of South Haven, Michigan (1996-present)

* Implemented municipal redevelopment strategies in a fast growing Lake Michigan 
community.
* Managed multiple multi-million dollar public infrastructure projects as the financial 
manager and key contact person between engineer, contractor, city manager, and the 
public.
* Managed a number of key municipal services and development projects through a 
project development, request for proposal and contract management process.
* Lead the process of rewriting the municipal master plan and zoning ordinance to 
encourage growth while protecting valued characteristics of the city.
* Directed a planning, zoning and building inspection department to foster a customer 
service approach to inspection and plan review services, including streamlining the 
permit process.
* Provided economic development services through industrial park development, 
business attraction and retention, brownfield redevelopment authority, local development 
finance authority and downtown development authority tax increment financing 
management.

49



Titles and Areas of Responsibility 
Assistant City Manager
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority Secretary
Local Development Finance Authority Secretary 
Harbormaster (Dredging and Facility Improvements)
Industrial Park Development
Economic Development
Strategic Planning
Tax Increment Financing Specialist
Project Development/RFP Writing/Contract Manager
Municipal Real Estate Manager
Grant Writer and Administrator (CDBG, EDA, MNRTF)
Building Services Department Director

Former Areas of Responsibility 
Zoning Administrator
Information Services Manager
Downtown Development Authority Secretary 
Planning and Zoning Director
Geographic Information System Manager
Ordinance and Resolution Writing
Many Miscellaneous Problem-Solving and Clean-Up Projects
Acting City Manager

Prior experience:
Construction Surveyor, Holland Engineering, Inc., Holland, Michigan

Apprenticeship, Building and Planning Department, Township of Kranenburg, 
Nordrhein-Westfalen, Germany

Apprenticeship, Economic Development Department, City of Kleve, Nordrhein-
Westfalen, Germany

Treasurer, Cake Gallery Bakery, Inc.; Payroll and Accounts Payable, Holland, 
Michigan

Membership and Certification:

Member, Van Buren County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

50



51



52



53



54



   

 

Memorandum 

From: Ed Verhamme, Greg Peterson Date: March 11, 2014 

Project: South Haven Buoy Project 

To: Paul Vandenbosh & Brian Dissette CC:  

 City of South Haven  

 

SUBJECT: South Haven Buoy Project Estimated Costs 

Background 

The City of South Haven, MI along with other community organizations and businesses 

in the South Haven area are working together to support the annual deployment and 

retrieval of a real-time weather buoy to be located approximately three miles offshore 

in Lake Michigan.  The buoy will provide ten minute observations of wind speeds, wave 

heights, and water temperature over the internet.  Observations will be used to inform 

area residents and tourists of the current conditions on Lake Michigan so they can make 

informed decisions about recreational boating and swimming on Lake Michigan.  In 

addition, the observations will be used by search and rescue personnel and the National 

Weather Service to protect and inform the public.   

This memorandum provides an estimate of the total capital costs of the project and the 

annual operation and maintenance costs.  The role of the City of South Haven is 

described in this memo as well as how LimnoTech will work with the City and other 

organizations to meet the project objectives.   

Estimated Buoy Capital Costs 

The table below describes all of the capital costs associated with acquiring the 

components of the proposed buoy. The first six items represent the basic buoy that is 

capable of measuring air temperature, relative humidity, wind speed and direction, 

surface water temperature, and wave height, period, and direction.   The sub-total cost 

of these items is $40,000.  LimnoTech is currently working with the City of South Haven 

to apply for a grant from the Coastal Storms Program that is being administered by Ohio 

Sea Grant and NOAA.   If LimnoTech is not successful in winning this grant, then the 

partner groups will continue to work with LimnoTech to find other sources of funds 

including other partners and grant opportunities.   

55



South Haven Buoy Project March 11, 2014 

Page | 2 

The cost of acquiring the one ton mooring anchor ($2,500) will be covered by Louis 

Padnos metal recycling of Holland, MI.  A letter of support from Padnos is attached.   

The other components mentioned in the table represent additional sensors that can be 

added to the basic buoy platform to enhance capability and provide more information 

to other user groups in the South Haven Area.  These include a string of ten temperature 

sensors that can measure water temperatures from the surface down to the bottom, a 

webcam that can transmit high definition video clips and images on an hourly basis, and 

a velocity meter capable of measuring water currents from the surface to the bottom.  

Support from other organizations is needed to add these components to the buoy.  

These components can either be added before the buoy is deployed if additional 

funding is received by partners or grants, or they can be added between field seasons in 

subsequent years.  Local fishing clubs have expressed interest in supporting the water 

temperature sensors. WOODTV8 and WZZM13 in Grand Rapids have expressed interest 

in supporting the web camera. A potential supporter of the velocity meter is the 

Palisades Nuclear Power Plant, who could use the observations to support planning at 

their facility. However, no firm commitments/pledges have been received to date for 

the additional equipment other than the anchor, which is a component of the basic 

buoy.  

Table 1. Estimated capital costs 

Buoy Component Cost 

Buoy Hull, Mast, Ballast, Solar Panels, Batteries $25,000 

Air Temperature & Wind Speed/Direction 
Sensor $2,750 

Wave Height, Period, Direction Sensor $5,000 

Data Logger & Cellular Modem $5,000 

Mooring Line & Shackles $1,250 

Permits from USACE, MDEQ, USCG $1,000 

Basic Buoy Sub-Total $40,000 

Anchor $2,500 

Water Temperature Sensors (10 depths) $5,000 

Web Camera (Video Clips/photos) $5,000 

Velocity Meter $20,000 

Grand Total $72,500 

 

  

56



South Haven Buoy Project March 11, 2014 

Page | 3 

Estimated Annual Operation and Maintenance Costs 

Table 2 below lays out a detailed description of the expected annual operation and 
maintenance costs.   These costs assume that LimnoTech will be supporting the entire 
O&M operation via its boat, personnel, and resources.  Cost savings could possibly be 
realized by LimnoTech combining trips from Ann Arbor to South Haven with other buoy 
support projects in St. Joseph and Holland.   The estimate also assumes three trips to 
South Haven, one each for deployment and retrieval, and an additional trip mid-season 
to service any failed sensors.  This mid-season trip could be eliminated entirely or 
supported by local groups to offset the cost.   In addition, the data support costs 
mentioned in Table 2 could be reduced or eliminated if other means of data display 
were arranged or provided by another partner.  Currently LimnoTech partners with 
Michigan Tech University to display data from the buoy on a custom website.   

At the high end (most conservative) it is estimated that it would cost $27,550 to support 
the annual O&M costs.  If all cost savings were realized it would cost $18,070 for annual 
O&M costs.   

Table 2.  Estimated annual operation and maintenance costs 

Deploy/Maintain/Retrieve Real-Time Buoy 

Hardware/Equipment Costs 

Description Qty Unit Total 

Buoy Insurance 1  $            880   $            880  

Cell Phone Data Plan 1  $            780   $            780  

Garmin GPS Tracking Plan 1  $            110   $            110  

Misc Equipment 1  $        1,100   $        1,100  

Data Support 1  $        1,650   $        1,650  

     Sub Total   $        4,520  

    

Unit Field Costs from Ann Arbor to St. Joe 

Description Qty Unit Total 

Boat Rental (hourly) 8  $            90   $            720  

Vehicle Rental (Mileage) 600  $         0.75   $            450  

Vehicle Rental (Daily Rate) 2  $             75   $            150  

Food (2 ppl/1 days) 1  $             50   $              50  
        

Labor Driving (2 ppl) 11  $           110   $        1,210  

Labor Field (2 ppl) 18  $           110   $        1,980  

Labor Preparation 6  $           110   $            660  

     Sub Total   $        5,220  
    

Other Labor + Total Costs 

Description Qty Rate Total 

Hardware/Equipment subtotal      $        4,520  

Field Travel Costs (unit above) 3  $       5,220   $      15,660  

57



South Haven Buoy Project March 11, 2014 

Page | 4 

Prepare and Test Bouy (hrs) 33  $           110   $        3,630  

Data Quality Monitoring (hrs) 24  $           110   $        2,640  

End of Season Maintainance (hrs) 10  $           110   $        1,100  

     Sub Total   $      27,550  

Total Costs by Category Total 

Other Direct Costs (Travel, Equipment, Misc..)  $        8,630  

Direct Labor  $      18,920  

Grand Total  $      27,550  

 

Support from other partners 

The City of South Haven is working with other organizations to secure commitments for 
annual operation and maintenance costs.  At the high end (most conservative) it is 
estimated that it would cost $27,550 to support the annual O&M costs.  If all cost 
savings were realized it would cost $18,070 for annual O&M costs.  As of the writing of 
this document, the following organizations are willing to pledge $13,500 towards the 
O&M costs.  The remaining funds will be solicited from area organizations and 
businesses.    

Organizations Committing to 5 years for O&M support as of March 10, 2014 

$5,000 Van Buren County 

$5,000 City of South Haven 

$1,000 South Haven Yacht Club 

$1,000 Steelheaders 

$1,000 Convention and Visitors Bureau 

$500 Coast Guard Auxiliary 

To deploy the buoy by July 1, 2014 the minimum of $18,070 needs to be pledged by 
May 19, 2014.  Preferably all annual pledges would be for a duration of five years.  If 
signed commitments for payment for annual O&M are not received by May 19, then the 
deployment date might be delayed accordingly.  Payments must be received no later 
than August 1, 2014 or buoy deployment will be delayed until 2015.  Deployment in 
subsequent years will be re-evaluated by the major funding partners to determine if 
enough funds are available to continue to deploy the buoy. 

  

58



South Haven Buoy Project March 11, 2014 

Page | 5 

Timeline 

The timeline below lays out the upcoming dates that will lead to buoy deployment by 

July 1, 2014.  

March 10: Deadline to have materials ready for March City Council meeting 

March 17: City Council meeting to approve participation in grant 

March 18: Harbor Commission meeting 

March 21: Deadline to submit a full proposal to NOAA Coastal Storms 

May 12: Grant awards announced by NOAA Coastal Storms 

May 19: Written funding commitments due from partner organizations 

May 19: City Council approval to enter into O&M agreement and accept grant award 

July 1: Anticipated buoy deployment date 

Invoicing 

LimnoTech will directly invoice each partner for their pledged portion of the annual 

operation and maintenance costs.  Payments are due 30 days past the invoicing date.  

LimnoTech will present a quarterly update of the amount of dollars billed against the 

total funds available to all of the funding partners.  Any funds left over at the end of the 

calendar year (December 31) will either be carried over to the next year to support 

future deployments or returned to the partner organizations based on a percentage of 

their total annual contribution.  LimnoTech will work with partner organizations to 

determine the most appropriate means to handle any leftover funds and address any 

unexpected costs.   

The material contained in this document represents LimnoTech’s best estimate of the 

cost to acquire, deploy, and retrieve a real-time buoy off of South Haven, MI.  A more 

formal proposal and service contract will be established with the partner groups once 

the capital for the buoy is secured.  

 

59



March 11, 2014

TO: Harbor Commission

FR: Paul VandenBosch

RE: Commercial Use Policy

City Council requested that a policy be written to state how applications for commercial uses 
at the marinas would be managed.

City staff has written a first draft of a policy and is requesting Harbor Commission review.

60



Draft 2.25.14

CITY OF SOUTH HAVEN
VAN BUREN AND ALLEGAN COUNTIES, MICHIGAN

RESOLUTION NO. 2014-___

A RESOLUTION TO ESTABLISH A POLICY ON COMMERCIAL USES AT 
MUNICIPAL MARINAS AND BOAT LAUNCH FACILITIES

Minutes of a regular meeting of the City Council of the City of South Haven, Van Buren 
and  Allegan  Counties,  Michigan,  held  in  the  City  Hall,  539  Phoenix  Street,  South  Haven, 
Michigan 49090 on _____________, 2014 at 7:00 p.m. local time.

PRESENT:                                                                                                                            

ABSENT:                                                                                                                               

The following preamble and resolution was offered by Member                                    and 
supported by Member                                       .

WHEREAS, the Council desires to establish rules and regulations for the commercial use of the 
Southside Marina, Northside Marina, Maritime Marina, Black River Park Marina, and Black River 
Park Boat Launch facilities.  

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City of South Haven City Council adopts a Marina 
and Boat Launch Facility Commercial Use Policy set forth in Attachment A.

RECORD OF VOTE:

Yeas:                                                                                                                                                   

Nays:                                                                                                                                                   

RESOLUTION DECLARED ADOPTED.

                                                                 
Robert G. Burr, Mayor

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a true and complete copy of a resolution adopted by the 
City Council at a meeting held on the ___ day of ____________, 2014, at which meeting a 
quorum was present,  and that  this  resolution was ordered to take immediate  effect.  Public 
notice of said meeting was given pursuant to and in compliance with the Open Meetings Act, Act 
No. 167 of the Public Acts of Michigan 1976 (MCL 15.261 et seq).

                                                                 
Amanda Morgan, City Clerk

Resolution 2014-___
- 1 -

61



Exhibit A

Marina and Boat Launch Facility Commercial Use Policy

1. Purpose  .   This Policy governs the application process for  persons or entities wishing to 
establish commercial  operations at  the South Side Marina,  North Side Marina,  Maritime 
Marina, Black River Park Marina, and Black River Boat Launch facilities.  

2. Application  .  The person or entity wishing to establish a commercial operation at a facility 
(the “Applicant”) shall submit a written letter of request to the City Manager with the following 
information:

A. The  Applicant’s  name,  mailing  address,  and  telephone  number.  Where  the 
Applicant  is  a partnership,  corporation or  other  association,  this  information shall  be 
provided for all partners, officers and directors, or members. 

B. A statement regarding the type of commercial operation the Applicant wishes to 
operate.   The  statement  shall  identify  the  space  within  the  facilities  (including,  if 
applicable, specific boat slips) that the Applicant wishes to use in the operation.

C. Proposed hours of operation, and, if applicable, an approximate schedule of the 
departure and arrival of boats to be used as part of the commercial operation. 

3. Preliminary Approval  .  The City Manager will review the application and grant preliminary 
approval upon determining that: (a) the requested space or comparable space is available 
and  has  not  been  requested  in  a  pending  application;  (b)  the  requested  facility  has 
additional capacity for commercial uses; (c) the proposed operation will not interfere with 
adjacent use by other customers, produce noise, noxious smells or be otherwise offensive; 
(d) the proposed operation is not prohibited by the facility regulations in Section 5 of this 
Policy; (e) the use is a lawful use and all  appropriate permits and approvals have been 
granted;  and  (f)  the  proposed  operation  will  not  unduly  interfere  with  other  commercial 
operations or recreational uses of the facility.

4. License Agreement  .  If the application receives preliminary approval, the City Attorney will 
prepare a license agreement with the following components:

A. Term – The initial term of each license agreement shall be one year.  The City 
may, at its discretion, grant renewal terms for longer periods for commercial operations 
that consistently satisfy their license obligations.

B. License Fee – Commercial operations in the facilities shall pay an annual license 
fee in amount consistent with applicable state and federal regulations.  The license fee 
shall be determined based on the nature and character of the occupied space.  For a 
commercial operation that operates exclusively from a boat slip, the license fee shall 
generally be double the amount charged for seasonal use of the slip by a recreational 
boater.   However, the City Council may determine from time to time that a particular 
facility has excess commercial capacity, and, in such situations, the City reserves the 
right to adjust fees accordingly.  

C. Insurance Requirements – The applicant shall be required to maintain general 
commercial liability insurance with minimum liability limits of $1,000,000 per occurrence 
and $3,000,000 in the aggregate, naming the City as an additional insured. 

Resolution 2014-___
- 2 -62



GRAPIDS 57671-1 315519v2

Exhibit A

5. Facility Regulations  .  The following regulations shall apply within the specified facilities.

A. Commercial operations at Black River Park Boat Launch involving the rental of 
boats  and  motorized  watercraft  to  customers,  for  operation  by  such  customers,  are 
prohibited.

B. Rental of boats which are under a seasonal recreational marina contract is not 
permitted.  This includes rental of boats as lodging, operation as a charter vessel and 
person to person boat rentals.  Operation of a charter vessel from municipal marinas 
may be permitted under a license agreement subject to this Commercial Use Policy.  

C. The  Black  River  Park  Marina  shall  not  have  more  than  five  commercial 
operations involving the use of a charter vessel.

D. The South Side Marina shall not have more than three commercial operations 
involving the use of a charter vessel.

6. License  Agreement  Approval  .   The license  agreement  prepared  by  the  City  Attorney is 
subject to review by the Harbor Commission and approval by the City Council. 

Resolution 2014-___
- 3 -63



C O N F I D E N T I A L  M E M O R A N D U M
To: Paul VandenBosch, Assistant City Manager

City of South Haven

From: Scott G. Smith, City Attorney

Re: Removal of sunken boat

Date: March 3, 2014

A privately owned tugboat recently sank into the Black River while docked at the Michigan 
Maritime Museum.  We understand that you have contacted the boat owner and requested that 
he take immediate action to remove the boat.  You would like us to outline the legal procedure 
for removing the boat if the owner fails to do so.

Federal  statutes  and regulations  regarding the removal  of  sunken boats from navigable 
waters give the U.S. Coast Guard and U.S. Army Corps of Engineers primary jurisdiction over 
boat  removal.1  Accordingly,  if  the  owner  fails  to  remove  the boat  in  a  timely  fashion,  we 
recommend that the City report the sinking to one of those federal agencies.

Upon receiving the report, the federal agencies should assess whether and to what extent 
the boat poses a hazard to navigation.2  The federal agencies should then decide whether to 
pursue removal based, at least in part, on their assessment of potential hazards.3  

If either agency decides to pursue removal, they will first notify the owner that he is obligated 
to remove the boat under federal law.  At that point, the owner may agree to remove the boat 
with oversight by the Corps of Engineers.  If not, the agencies can file suit in the federal district  
court  to require removal  at the owner’s  expense.   The City would not  be involved in these 
proceedings and would not bear any of the cost.  

If the Coast Guard and the Corps of Engineers decline to pursue removal, the City could do 
so.4  We are unaware of a state statute that specifically addresses the removal of sunken boats. 
Accordingly,  we  recommend  that  the  City  pursue  removal  under  a  theory  of  ordinance 
enforcement or nuisance abatement.

Section 38-4(4) of the Code of Ordinances states:

1 See, eg, 33 USC § 414; 33 CFR Part 245.
2 33 CFR § 245.20(a).
3 33 CFR § 245.25(b).
4 The Coast Guard has acknowledged that state and local governments may have authority to remove a 
sunken vessel when federal agencies choose not  exercise their  removal powers.   U.S. Coast  Guard 
Commandant  Instruction 164565.5 at  p.  3.   Moreover,  state  courts  have concurrent  jurisdiction over 
navigable  waters  that  lie  within  state  boundaries,  including  the  waters  of  the  Great  Lakes  and  its  
tributaries.  Income Tax Cases, 157 Mich App 525, 533 (1987); Hoopengarner v United States, 270 F.2d 
465, 471-72 (6th Cir 1959).

64



MEMO: P. VandenBosch
DATE: March 3, 2014
PAGE: 2

CONFIDENTIAL – SUBJECT TO
ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGE

No person shall  abandon any vessel,  craft,  or float or allow the same to sink in the 
harbor.  Every vessel, craft, or float which shall be so abandoned or allowed to sink in 
the harbor  is  hereby declared to be a public  nuisance and may be removed at  the 
owner’s expense.

This provision makes the act of allowing a boat to sink in the harbor a municipal civil infraction.5 

It also declares that sunken boats are a nuisance.  Accordingly, the City has the option of either: 
(1) citing the owner for a municipal civil infraction and seeking equitable relief in the state district 
court;6 or (2) bringing a nuisance-abatement suit against the owner in the state circuit court.7 

Both courts would have authority to issue an injunction authorizing the City to remove the boat 
at the owner’s expense.8  Both courts would also have authority to order that the boat be sold in 
order to pay the cost of removal.9  

We recommend that the City obtain a cost estimate for boat raising or removal before 
bringing a court action.  If the cost is greater than the value of the boat, the City may need to  
pursue a variety of collection remedies in order to recover costs. 

In sum, we recommend that the City take the following steps:

Step 1: Determine whether the owner is likely to remove the boat on his own.

Step 2: If it appears the owner might not remove the boat on a timely basis, contact the 
Coast Guard and/or Corps of Engineers.  

Step 3: If both the Coast Guard and Corps of Engineers decline to pursue removal, obtain a 
cost estimate from a marine contractor for boat raising or removal.

Step 4: Cite the owner for a municipal civil infraction and pursue equitable relief in district 
court  or, alternatively,  file a nuisance-abatement suit  against the owner in circuit 
court.

Step 5: Request that the court issue an order authorizing the City to remove the boat at the 
owner’s expense and allowing the City to sell the boat if the owner fails to pay his  
financial obligations in full.

Step 6: Pursue any other collection remedies needed in order to recover costs.

We trust that this memorandum sufficiently responds to your inquiry.  Please let us know if 
you have any further questions or concerns.

5 See also Code of Ordinances § 38-3.
6 MCL 600.8302(4).
7 MCL 600.2940.
8 See MCL 600.8302(4); MCL 600.2940 (granting the power to craft equitable remedies).
9 See id.

65



66


	March 18 Harbor Commission Agenda
	February 18 Minutes
	Reports
	MMM Dock Request
	Strategic Plan
	Black River Park Grant Application
	Weather Buoy
	Commercial Use Policy
	Wilhelm Baum



